
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Please note refreshments are available in the room from 5.30pm 
 

Agenda 
 
1. Introductions and Apologies (5 mins)    

 County Councillor Prynn 
 
To note who is attending and any apologies for absence. 

 
2. Notes of the Meeting and Matters Arising from 5 

December 2013 (5 mins)   
(Pages 1 - 4) 

 County Councillor Prynn 
 
To agree for accuracy the notes of the meeting and receive any updates from the 
matters arising. 

 
3. What our Elected Members have been doing (5 mins)    

 County Councillor Prynn and other Elected Members 
 
To note feedback from work undertaken by the Chair of the Board and our Elected 
Members including Members' visits. 

 
4. Action Sheet (5 mins)   (Pages 5 - 6) 

 County Councillor Prynn 
 
To discuss where the actions from previous meetings are up to. 

 
What Do We Need to Know 
 
5. What Does Our Performance Tell Us? (5 mins)   (Pages 7 - 14) 

 Louise Mackender De Cari 
 
To receive an update on current performance data. 

 
6. Attainment of Children Looked After (5 mins)   (Pages 15 - 28) 

 Kath Metcalfe and Elaine Roberts 
 
To receive an update on the attainments. 

 
7. IRO Annual Report (30 mins)   (Pages 29 - 66) 

 Sally Allen and Mark Hudson 
 
To receive the Annual Report 2012. 

Corporate Parenting Board 
Thursday, 6th February, 2014 at 6.00 pm  

Cabinet Room 'C' - The Duke of Lancaster Room, County Hall, Preston 



 
What have our Young People been doing? 
 
8. LINX (Lancashire's Children in Care Council) (60 mins)    

 Young People and Barnardos 
 
To receive feedback on the work our young people have been doing and the 

topics that have been discussed at their LINX meetings ie Corporate Parenting 

Board Performance Report, Taking It To The Next Level, Care Leavers, 
Pathway Plans and Time to Think. 

 
9. Any Other Business    

 County Councillor Prynn 
 
To receive any other business. 

 
10. Date and Time of Next Meeting    

 County Councillor Prynn 
 
Thursday, 24 April 2014 at 6.00pm, Duke of Lancaster Room,(former Cabinet 
Room 'C'), County Hall, Preston, PR1 8RJ. 

 
Information Item 
 
11. Ofsted Questionnaire Summaries   (Pages 67 - 84) 

 To note the summaries for information. 
 
12. Grant Funding Applications   (Pages 85 - 94) 

 To note the attached document. 
 



 
 

1 
 

Lancashire County Council 
 

Corporate Parenting Board 
 

Notes of the Meeting held on Thursday, 5th December, 2013 at 6.00 pm in 
Cabinet Room 'C' - The Duke of Lancaster Room, County Hall, Preston 

 
 
Present: Members  
 County Councillor Sue 

Prynn (Chair) 
- Lancashire County Council 

 County Councillor 
Lorraine Beavers 

- Lancashire County Council 

 County Councillor 
Margaret Brindle 

- Lancashire County Council 

 County Councillor Chris 
Henig 

- Lancashire County Council 

 County Councillor Sue 
Prynn 

- Lancashire County Council 

 County Councillor Ian 
Brown 

- Lancashire County Council 

 Jane Simpson - representing Foster Carers 
 Catherine Cosslett - representing Adoption 
 Bob Stott - Director of Universal and Early Support 

Services 
 County Councillor Miss 

Kim Snape 
- Lancashire County Council 

 Catherine Poole - Children's Social Services 
   
 Co-opted members  
   
 Marc Bentley - Ambassador for Children and Young People 
 Katherine Ashworth - representing Young People's Service, 

Lancashire County Council 
 Mark Hudson - representing Independent Reviewing 

Officers 
 Sue Parr - representing The Virtual School, Lancashire 

County Council 
 Diane Booth - Children's Social Care 
 Kate Baggaley - Barnardos 
 Catherine Poole - Children's Social Services 
   
 Other Attendees  
   
 Officers form Barnardos - Barnardos 
 Mark Elliott - Clerk to the Board 
 Sam Gorton - Governance Officer 
 
  

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



 
2 

 

 
18. Introductions and Apologies 

 
All were welcomed to the meeting and the following apologies were noted: 
 
County Councillor D Lord 
Ismail Karolia 
Debbie Ross 
Louise Mackender de Cari. 
 
The Board also received the sad news that Lin Fisher, who had been a member 
of the Board for a number of years, had passed away.  Tributes were given to a 
wonderful compassionate foster carer who will be sorely missed. 
 
19. Notes of the Meeting held on 12 September 2013 

 
The notes of the previous meeting on 12 September 2013 were noted as an 
accurate record. 
 
20. Matters Arising from the Notes of the Meeting held on 12 September 

2013 and Action Sheet 
 

The Board discussed the action sheet and updated the sheet which will be 
attached to all future agendas.  
 
21. What our Elected Members have been doing  

 
Various county councillors gave brief updates on what work they had been doing 
as members on the Board. 
 
These actions varied from shadowing Independent Reviewing Officers, 
supporting events dealing with mental health issues to ways in which all children 
looked after can have their voice heard. 
 
The Board also noted the PROUD celebration event which is scheduled to take 
place on 23 January 2014 and the North West Regional Corporate Parenting 
Boards Conference which is taking place on the afternoon of 17 February 2014. 
 
22. What Does Our Performance Tell Us? 

 
The Board considered the report which had been discussed earlier at a LINX 
meeting. 
 
The Board agreed it needed more information on numbers and details of CLA 
exclusions. 
 
 
 
 

Page 2



 
3 

 

23. LINX (Lancashire's Children in Care Council) 
 

The young people gave a number of presentations and related activities on what 
they had been doing. 
 
Topics included Pupil Premium Plus and The Entitlements Inquiry (which 
incorporates Care Leavers). 
 
24. Service Redesign for Children in Need of Help, Protection, Children 

Looked After and Care Leavers 
 

Diane Booth briefly updated the Board on the work being done regarding the 
service re-design. 
 
Diane asked specifically for the advice and guidance of LINX in moving this 
forward.  Members of LINX agreed to help Diane with this project. 
 
25. 2014 Meetings 

 
The dates for 2014 were agreed. 
 
26. Any Other Business 

 
No items of other business were identified. 
 
27. Date and Time of Next Meeting 

 
It was noted that the next scheduled meeting was to take place on Thursday 6 
February 2014 starting at 6pm with refreshments being available from 5.30pm. 
 
28. Grant Funding Applications 

 
The list of grant fund applications was noted. 
 
29. Library of Children Looked After Policies/Strategies 

 
The library of documents was noted and would be reviewed as appropriate. 
 

Page 3



Page 4



Corporate Parenting Board – Action Sheet – as at 5 February 2014 
 

You Said We Said Outcome 
Pupil Premium - you wanted to know how 
they were used in schools for the young 
people they were provided for. 
 

Through Louise Taylor the Executive 
Director for Children and Young People 
Barnardos has been asked to prepare a 
letter to all schools to find out how the 
money is used. 

A letter has been drafted and a discussion 
was to take place with Sue Parr to agree 
how best to get in schools 

Staying Put/Leaving Care – an update 
was needed on these important issues. 
 

We would bring a report to the Board and 
it is on the agenda tonight. 

A leaving care leaflet was in production 
which would be shared with a future 
Board meeting. 
 
Regarding staying put the policy would be 
brought to a future Board meeting to 
review in light of the age limit going up to 
21. 
 

Suicide – how many young people in care 
in Lancashire have died due to suicide. 
 

We would research figures for CLA across 
Lancashire. 

This would continue to be on the Board's 
radar and relevant information would be 
brought as and when appropriate. 
 

Photographic Consent - an agreed policy 
across the whole of Lancashire is needed. 
 

We would look at the current policy. Work had been undertaken in this area 
and a policy had been developed and 
signed off by the cabinet member. 
 

Inform a report to the All Party 
Parliamentary Group. 

We would like the report to be shared with 
the Board. 

Young People have been working on this 
and will share views with the Board. 
 

CLA exclusions – concern over the 
number and the lack of information 
available to the Board. 

The appropriate information be found and 
brought to a future meeting. 

 

A
genda Item

 4

P
age 5



Advocacy must be used more in relation 
to issues involving young people 
 

The Board agreed to promote the use of 
advocacy on every appropriate occasion.  

 

 

P
age 6



Report produced by Children's Integrated Health Service
February 2014 

CORPORATE PARENTING 

ACTIVITY FOR CHILDREN LOOKED 

NUMBER OF CHILDREN LOOKED 

• As at the end of December 2013, there are 

• For every 10,000 children and young people in Lancashire, 

• This is higher than in previous years, and the number of children looked after in Lancashire 

continues to increase each month.

• There are more children looked after 

are currently looked after. 

• There are less children looked after in Lancashire than 

and less than in Lancashire's statistical neighbours 

COMMENTS: 

� Lancashire's number of children looked after continues to increase, and has for the first 

time risen above the England

� Lancashire's number of children looked after

neighbours and lower than the averag

 

SERVICE ACTIVITY 

Service activity helps to explain the rise in the number of children 

looked after in Lancashire: 

• The contact centre has received more referrals than in previous 

years. 

• As a result, the social work teams 

children and young people than in previous years

• The social work teams are also carr

More were completed in the 

entirety of 2010/11. 

• With more children and young people than ever been identified for referral and assessment, 

more children are becoming looked after as a result.

 

51 51

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

2006/07 2007/08 2008/09

Report produced by Children's Integrated Health Service 

ARENTING BOARD PERFORMANCE REPORT, FEBRUARY 

OOKED AFTER AND CARE LEAVERS 

OOKED AFTER 

2013, there are 1,562 children looked after in Lancashire.

children and young people in Lancashire, 64 are currently looked after

This is higher than in previous years, and the number of children looked after in Lancashire 

nues to increase each month. 

children looked after in Lancashire than in England where 

children looked after in Lancashire than the North Wes

Lancashire's statistical neighbours (67 out of 10,000). 

Lancashire's number of children looked after continues to increase, and has for the first 

England average. 

Lancashire's number of children looked after is lower than that of Lancashire's statistical 

neighbours and lower than the average of other North West local authorities.

explain the rise in the number of children 

has received more referrals than in previous 

he social work teams are carrying out more initial assessments with more 

children and young people than in previous years. 

also carrying out more core assessments than in previous years

More were completed in the 9 months between April and December 2013 than in the 

With more children and young people than ever been identified for referral and assessment, 

are becoming looked after as a result. 

50 52 53 54

2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13

 1 

EBRUARY 2014 

children looked after in Lancashire. 

are currently looked after. 

This is higher than in previous years, and the number of children looked after in Lancashire 

England where 60 out of 10,000 

the North West (79 out of 10,000) 

 

Lancashire's number of children looked after continues to increase, and has for the first 

that of Lancashire's statistical 

e of other North West local authorities. 

carrying out more initial assessments with more 

out more core assessments than in previous years. 

ber 2013 than in the 

With more children and young people than ever been identified for referral and assessment, 

61
64

2012/13 December 
2013

Agenda Item 5

Page 7



Report produced by Children's Integrated Health Service 2 
February 2014 

 

Previous Performance Current Performance 

 

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 Dec 13 

Contacts per month -- 998 1284 1525 756 

Referrals per month 1470 1389 1175 1370 1708 

Initial Assessments 8636 10071 9891 11288 9828 

Core Assessments 2932 4246 5019 5901 4499 

COMMENTS: 

� Since the introduction of the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) in April 2013, a 

large number of contacts from the Police have been passed to MASH rather than going 

through Care Connect. As a result, contacts have reduced significantly. 

� For the year to date the average referrals per month has been 1708 significantly higher 

than the amount received in previous years and increasing demand on Social Workers. 

 

RE-REFERRAL RATE 

A number of referrals that the authority receives are re-referrals; that is a child or young person 

has been referred to Children's Social Care once and is being referred again. 

• Re-referral rates have historically declined which was considered good performance 

• However, these have increased recently and were reported at 22.6% in December 2013 

• Average re-referral for 13/14 to date has increased slightly to 23 re-referrals out of each 100 

referrals received 

 

 

STABILITY OF PLACEMENTS OF CLA: NUMBER OF MOVES 

How many children looked after moved placement twice during the past year: 

• Out of 100 children looked after, Lancashire targets to have less than 10 children looked 

after having to move twice or more during the year 

379 353 272 281 330

25.8%
25.4%

23.2%

20.5%

22.6%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 Dec-13

Previous Performance Ave. Current 

Performance

Re-Referral 

Count

Re-Referral %

Page 8



Report produced by Children's Integrated Health Service 3 
February 2014 

• Latest information shows that 8 out of 100 children looked have moved twice or more which 

is good performance and within the target 

• This is also an improvement on last year when 9 out of 100 children looked had to move 

twice or more during the year 

Previous Performance Current Performance Target 
Performance Direction? 

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14   

9.5% 8.7% 8.1% 9.5% 

☺ 
� � � � 

 

COMMENTS: 

� Lancashire has carried out good work on placement stability through research projects 

and improved processes, which has resulted in better performance and improved stability 

for children looked after. 

� Fewer children than ever have more than 2 placement moves, but further improvement is 

possible (only 7 out 100 moved in September 2012). 

 

STABILITY OF PLACEMENTS OF CLA: LENGTH OF PLACEMENTS 

How many children looked after have been in their current placement for at least 2 years: 

• Out of 100 children looked after, Lancashire targets to have more than 72 children looked 

after settled for a long time in their current placement. 

• December 2013 information shows that 72 out of 100 children looked are in a long and 

stable placement, which is good performance, but below our target. 

• Current performance is an improvement on performance from 2 years ago, but slightly lower 

than last year's performance. 

 

COMMENTS: 

� Lancashire has carried out good work on placement stability through research projects 

and improved processes. 

� This has resulted in better performance and improved stability for children looked after. 

71.7% 73.4% 72.1%

69.0%

72.6%

65.0%

67.0%

69.0%

71.0%

73.0%

75.0%

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14

Previous Performance Current 

Performance

Performance

Target

Page 9



Report produced by Children's Integrated Health Service
February 2014 

CHILDREN MISSING FROM CARE

Lancashire County Council works with multiple agencies including Lancashire Police, to monitor 

the levels of children missing from care. A recent workgroup has come together to improve the 

information about these children and young people, and this year's information is below:

Lancashire CLA missing 

Number CLA from other LAs missing

Other Children known to Lancashire CSC

Other Children Missing 

Children Missing with Lancashire boundaries

 

COMMENT: 

� In Lancashire, around 6 out of 100 children looked after go missing 

� The numbers represent the number of children looked 

multiple instances of going missing, an average of 1½ missing episodes per child.

 

OUTCOMES FOR CHILDREN LOOKED 

Outcomes data from education is 

than financial year. 

Educational Attainment of Children Looked After

The key indicator used to measure attainment is the number of 

children and young people who get 5 GCSEs at grades A* to C including English and Maths:

• Performance for 2012/13 has been published and performance remains at 12.9% as it was in 

2011/12 which was higher than the previous

• CLA attainment remains significantly lower than attainment for all children and young people

of whom 6 out 10 achieve 5 GCSEs at A*

Previous Performance

2010/11 2011

Lancs 11.9% 12

  � 

England 13.6% 1

 

COMMENT: 

� In Lancashire, attainment at GCSE among

2012/13, but remains below 

� Across England, just over 1

than Lancashire's 13 per 100.

Report produced by Children's Integrated Health Service 

ARE 

Lancashire County Council works with multiple agencies including Lancashire Police, to monitor 

missing from care. A recent workgroup has come together to improve the 

these children and young people, and this year's information is below:

2012/13 Q1 2012/13 Q2

88 119 

other LAs missing 103 89 

Other Children known to Lancashire CSC 173 141 

258 255 

with Lancashire boundaries 622 604 

around 6 out of 100 children looked after go missing during a quarter

The numbers represent the number of children looked after, and some children 

iple instances of going missing, an average of 1½ missing episodes per child.

OOKED AFTER 

from education is displayed by academic year rather 

Educational Attainment of Children Looked After 

key indicator used to measure attainment is the number of 

o get 5 GCSEs at grades A* to C including English and Maths:

Performance for 2012/13 has been published and performance remains at 12.9% as it was in 

2011/12 which was higher than the previous year. 

CLA attainment remains significantly lower than attainment for all children and young people

5 GCSEs at A*-C 

Previous Performance Current Performance Target 

2011/12 2012/13   

12.9% 12.9% 18.0% 

� � � 

15.0% 15.3% Higher 

In Lancashire, attainment at GCSE among the children looked after 

but remains below performance of 18.6% from 2009/10. 

Across England, just over 15 per 100 children looked after achieved 

than Lancashire's 13 per 100. 

 4 

Lancashire County Council works with multiple agencies including Lancashire Police, to monitor 

missing from care. A recent workgroup has come together to improve the 

these children and young people, and this year's information is below: 

2012/13 Q2 2012/13 Q3 

 92 

80 

 53 

 345 

 570 

during a quarter. 

after, and some children have 

iple instances of going missing, an average of 1½ missing episodes per child. 

o get 5 GCSEs at grades A* to C including English and Maths: 

Performance for 2012/13 has been published and performance remains at 12.9% as it was in 

CLA attainment remains significantly lower than attainment for all children and young people 

 
Performance Direction? 

 

☺ 

 � 

the children looked after remained stable in 

achieved 5 A*-C, slightly more 

Page 10



Report produced by Children's Integrated Health Service 5 
February 2014 

� Attainment by children looked after remains someway behind their peers with 6 out of 10 

children and young people achieving 5 GCSEs at grades A* to C inc. English and Maths. 

 

ATTENDANCE AT SCHOOL BY CHILDREN LOOKED AFTER 

Attendance at school is expressed as a percentage of all possible 

school sessions attended by all children looked after: 

• Attendance in primary school was slightly below target with all 

children looked after only missing 5 out of every 100 sessions in school 

• Attendance in secondary school was slightly worse than last year, with all children looked 

after missing 8 out of every 100 sessions in school 

Previous Performance Current Performance Target 
Performance Direction? 

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13   

Primary 96.3% 96.2% 95.0% 96.0% 

� 
� � � � � 

Secondary 92.5% 94.3% 92.0% 96.0% 

� 
� � � � � 

 

EXCLUSIONS FROM SCHOOL OF CHILDREN LOOKED AFTER 

Exclusions from school are included as a pure number of children looked after either 

permanently excluded or on fixed term exclusion: 

• In the last year there were 4 permanent exclusions of children looked after 

• In the last year there were 130 fixed term exclusions of children looked after 

• These are both high numbers and outside of the targets set by corporate parenting board 

 

 

 

COMMENTS: 

� Exclusions have risen in the last year to a high level ahead of the target set. 

� This requires action, and a recovery statement should be requested by corporate 

parenting board. 

� 2012/13 figures will be available for next meeting. 

 

4

130

0

70

0

50

100

150

Permanent Fixed Term

Number of exclusions of CLA by type in Lancashire 2011/12

Performance 2011/12

Target

Page 11



Report produced by Children's Integrated Health Service 6 
February 2014 

CHILDREN LOOKED AFTER IN YOUNG OFFENDER INSTITUTIONS OR SECURE UNITS 

• There are a small number of children looked after placed in young offender institutions or 

secure units, 7 as at December 2013. 

• 3 out of 100 children looked after are involved with the youth offending teams, while less 

than 1 out of 100 children and young people are involved with youth offending teams 

 

CHILDREN LOOKED AFTER WITH AN UP-TO-DATE HEALTH AND DENTAL ASSESSMENTS 

• 70 out of 100 children looked after have an up-to-date health assessment (December 2013) 

• This is a lower level of up-to-date health assessments than in the previous year 

• 85 out of 100 children looked after have an up-to-date dental assessment (December 2013) 

• This is a higher level of up-to-date dental assessments than in the previous year 

COMMENTS: 

� Lancashire is investing in the 

improvement of oral health through the 

Smile 4 Life campaign which has been 

running since 2010. 

� This has been nationally acclaimed for 

its successes in raising awareness and improving oral health.  

 

ADOPTION AND PERMANENCE 

ADOPTION ORDERS 

• 196 children looked after have been adopted over the last 3 years. 

• The number of adoptions increased to 75 children looked after 

being adopted in 2012/13, higher than in previous years. 

 

SPECIAL GUARDIANSHIP ORDER (SGO) OR RESIDENCE ORDERS (RO) 

Special guardianship orders or residence orders are an alternative to adoption, but still provide 

children looked after with a permanent home:  

• 10 out of 100 children looked after were given a permanent home under special guardianship 

order in the last year, a big improvement on previous years 

• 11 out of 100 children looked after were given a permanent home under residence order in 

the last year, an improvement on previous years 

COMMENTS: 

� Overall more children looked after than ever are being provided with a permanent home 

under adoption, special guardianship order or residence orders; almost 37 out of 100 

children looked after in the last year (2012/13) which represents considerable success. 

 

Page 12



Report produced by Children's Integrated Health Service
February 2014 

OUTCOMES FOR CARE LEAVERS

CARE LEAVERS IN SUITABLE ACCOMMODATION 

The percentage of care leavers at age 19 that are liv

accommodation": 

• Out of 100 care leavers, 80 are currently in suitable accommodation

• This is lower than two years ago, when 93 out of 100 were in suitable accommodation

COMMENTS: 

� The number of care leavers in suitable accommodation has declined from a high level in 

2010/11 to a lower level in 201

100. 

 

 

CARE LEAVERS IN EDUCATION

The percentage of care leavers at 19 who are engaged in education, training 

or employment: 

• 55 out of 100 care leavers we

2012/13, which is low performance but an improvement from last year

• As at the end of Quarter 2, 4

training or employment on their 19

• Nationally 85 out of 100 young people 

(Sep 2013) 

 

COMMENTS: 

� Performance was good in 2010/11, but declined sh

poor economic climate at the time.

� Performance improved slightly in 2012/13, but was

and also is below targeted performance.

� Current performance for 

April 2013 were in education, training or employment, some way behind the target of 67 

out of 100. 

 

CARE LEAVERS AT UNIVERSITY

• In 2010/11 there were 25 care leavers at university

• In 2011/12 there were a record 37 care 

around the country, including 24 first year students.

 

Report produced by Children's Integrated Health Service 

EAVERS 

BLE ACCOMMODATION (OLD NI 147)  

The percentage of care leavers at age 19 that are living in "suitable 

Out of 100 care leavers, 80 are currently in suitable accommodation 

This is lower than two years ago, when 93 out of 100 were in suitable accommodation

The number of care leavers in suitable accommodation has declined from a high level in 

2010/11 to a lower level in 2011/12 and 2012/13. This is below the target of 89 out of 

TION, EMPLOYMENT OR TRAINING (OLD NI 148)

The percentage of care leavers at 19 who are engaged in education, training 

out of 100 care leavers were in education, training or employment in 

performance but an improvement from last year 

, 48 out of 100 care leavers were in education, 

training or employment on their 19th birthday. 

Nationally 85 out of 100 young people aged 16-24 are in education, training or employment 

Performance was good in 2010/11, but declined sharply in 2011/12, possibly due to the 

limate at the time. 

slightly in 2012/13, but was some way below the expected level

and also is below targeted performance. 

for 2013/14 suggests that just under half of those leaving care

ucation, training or employment, some way behind the target of 67 

NIVERSITY 

In 2010/11 there were 25 care leavers at university 

2011/12 there were a record 37 care leavers studying at university 

around the country, including 24 first year students. 

 7 

This is lower than two years ago, when 93 out of 100 were in suitable accommodation 

The number of care leavers in suitable accommodation has declined from a high level in 

and 2012/13. This is below the target of 89 out of 

148) 

The percentage of care leavers at 19 who are engaged in education, training 

ucation, 

are in education, training or employment 

arply in 2011/12, possibly due to the 

me way below the expected level, 

half of those leaving care since 

ucation, training or employment, some way behind the target of 67 

leavers studying at university 

Page 13



Page 14



1 

 

Alternative and Complementary Education and Residential Service (ACERS) 
 
 
 

Virtual School for Children Looked After  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Educational Attainments and Achievements for Children and 
Young People Looked After 

2012-2013 
 
 

  
 
 

 
 
Virtual school for Children Looked after  
( DFE validated results received  Dec 2013) 
 

A
genda Item

 6

P
age 15



2 

 

 
CHILDREN LOOKED AFTER  RESULTS 2013 
 

KEY STAGE 1( CLA aged 5 -7years) 
 
There were 40 children in Lancashire's 2013 cohort. 
 

% achieving at least Level 2 – England 

 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 

Reading 57% 58% 58% 59% 67% 
 

69% 

Writing 50% 52% 51% 52% 57% 
 

61% 

Maths 62% 65% 62% 63% 71% 71% 

 
% achieving at least Level 2B+ - Lancashire 

 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 
 

2013 

Reading 40% 58%  59% 60% 62% 59% 

Writing 43% 50%  56% 53% 58% 49% 

Maths 37% 65% 71% 67% 76% 77% 
 

 
 Analysis 
 
Key Stage 1  
 
 

SUCCESSFUL STRATEGIES :  
 

• Key Stage 1  Maths and English were both prioritised for intensive support and PEPSA funding during 2011-2012 and 2012-2013  , for 
Years 1 and 2 however, it seems clear that greater emphasis needs to be made for improving the writing skills as compared to National 
figures, children in Lancashire are not doing as well.  

P
age 16



3 

 

 

• All Key Stage 1 pupils ( Year 1 and Year 2 ) received 'First for Books' Packs posted to their homes . 
  

• The improvement of Language and Social Communication Skills was prioritised for intensive support and PEPSA funding during 2012-
2013 for Reception & Year 1 and Year 2 pupils, ensuring 'readiness for learning ' 

 

• Continued Training for Designated Teachers for CLA in Primary Schools was prioritised and promoted (Many DT in Primary Schools are 
the Head teacher or Deputy head teacher, and 'actively' promote the education of CLA .) 
 

• Educational Training / Mentoring for foster carers promoted via Foster Carer Network meetings     
 

• Key Stage 1 pupils had few placement moves &Key Stage 1 pupils had few school moves  
  

P
age 17



4 

 

 
KEY STAGE 2 ( CLA aged 8 to 11 years  
 
 
% achieving at least Level 4 – England 
      

 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 

Mathematics 47% 47% 52% 56% 59% 

Reading  59% 54% 59% 64% 63% 

Writing    51% 55% 

Grammar, 
Punctuation 
& Spelling 

    45% 

      

      
 
There were 40 children in the Lancashire cohort in 2013  
 
% achieving at least Level 4 – Lancashire 

 2009 2010  2011 2012 2013  

Mathematics 46% 45% 43% 53% 52% 

Reading 48% 43% 52% 57% 60% 

Writing    45% 48% 

Grammar, 
Punctuation 
& Spelling 

    48% 

 

Analysis  
 
Key Stage 2  
Results show that the performance of looked after children continues to rise at Key Stage2 however, a priority for 2013-14 appears to be a focus 
on Maths as this result is less than predicted. 
 

• Key Stage 2  pupils had few placement moves  
 

• Key Stage 2  pupils had few school moves  

P
age 18



5 

 

 

SUCCESSFUL STRATEGIES 
 

• Key Stage 2 Maths and English were both prioritised for intensive support and PEPSA funding during 2011-2012 and 2012 -2013  , 
particularly for both Year 6 and Year 5 , and this has had a considerable impact on Year 6  CLA achievements , ensuring that these pupils 
enter High School with appropriate  literacy  and numeracy skills .   

 

• Training for Designated Teachers for CLA in Primary Schools was prioritised and promoted. (Many DT in Primary Schools are the Head 
teacher or Deputy head teacher, and 'actively' promote the education of CLA .) 

 

• Educational Training / Mentoring for foster carers promoted and delivered at Foster Carers network meetings  
 

AREAS OF DEVELOPMENT THROUGHOUT 2012 -2013  
 

• Continued priority was  given to Reading and English 

• Further preparation for High School was prioritised  via CLA Year 6 /Year7  accessing Summer Schools  

• CSC has continued to increase placement stability. 

• The virtual School and CSC have worked together with Pupil Access Team to ensure that all CLA remain at one school throughout their 
primary years. 

  

P
age 19



6 

 

 
KEY STAGE 4 ( Year 11- aged 16years ) 
 
% achieving - England 

 2009 20010 2011 2012 2013 

1 GCSE grades 
 A*-G 

66% 68% 72% N/A N/A 

5 GCSEs grades 
A*-G 

43% 44% 50% N/A N/A 

5 GCSEs grades 
 A*-C 

14% 14% 26.1% 31.2% 37.8% 

5 GCSE grades  
 A*-C inc Eng + Maths  

 9% 11.6% 12.8% 15.7% 

A-C in English and Maths 11.5% 13.1% 14.2% 15.4% 16.7% 

 
 
There were 85 young people in the Lancashire cohort in 2013 
% achieving – Lancashire 
COMPARISON OVER TIME  

 2009 
(95 pupils) 

2010 
(95 pupils) 

2011 
(85 pupils) 
 

2012 
(95 pupils) 

2013 
(85 pupils) 
 

1 GCSE grades 
 A*-G 

78% 84.5% 72.1% 81% 74% 

 

 5 GCSEs grades 
A*-G 

49% 57.7% 51.2% 45% 48% 

5 GCSEs grades 
 A*-C 

22% 31% 27.5% 34.4% 28.2%  

5 GCSE grades  
 A*-C inc Eng + Maths  

11.5% 18.8% 11.9% 12.9% 12.9% 

A-C in English and 
Maths 

11.5% 18.8% 11.9% 14% 15.3% 

 
  

 

P
age 20



7 

 

Analysis : 
 
Although 2013 results appear not to have improved from 2012, the number of pupils with a statement is 30.1% compared to the North West of 
26.4% and England 28.9%.  
Un-validated results using a figure of 86 pupils gave the number of children attaining 5 A*-C including English and Maths as 15%. However, this 
difference is due to the calculation of children having been in care for a full year.  There are a number of looked after children who fall outside  
that count but who still achieve 5 A*-C. 
 
Key Stage 4 : 2013  
 

 
KEY STAGE 4 : 2013  ;- Detailed Data and Analysis   plus  comparison data for Lancashire CLA   educated in Lancashire & CLA educated 
outside Lancashire  

 

CLA Exam results  2013 (DFE & PEPs) 

 Lancashire CLA Key Stage 4  

(Accumulated) Total Cohort Ed. In Authority Ed .Out of Authority 

 85 71 14 

1 GCSE grade A* - G 63 74% 52 61% 11 79% 

5 GCSE grades A*-G 41 48% 35 41% 6 43% 

5 GCSE grades A*-C 18 34.4% 14 19% 5 22% 

5 GCSE grades A*-C incl 
Eng & Maths 

11 12.9% 8 11% 3 21% 

A-C in English and Maths  13 15.3% 
 

9 13% 4 29% 

*SEN pupils not entered 
for GCSE 

10 11% 8 11% 2 9% 

 
Analysis :   

• Because of the far lower numbers of children educated out of authority, the percentage comparison will always appear better.  There is no 
real evidence to show that the pupils educated out of authority have greater advantages than those educated within Lancashire.   

• There is a larger % of pupils within Lancashire that attend PRU's than out of county. 
 
 
 
 

P
age 21



8 

 

 

 Lancashire CLA Key Stage 4  

 Total Cohort Ed. In Authority Ed .Out of Authority 

Attendance  

95%-100%  54 64% 43 60% 11 78% 

80% - 94% 15 18% 14 20% 1 1% 

Less than 79% 8 9% 6 7% 2 2% 

No statistics available 8 9% 8 11% 0 0 

Analysis:   
Compared to last year there is a reduction in the number of children with less than 79% attendance, but the % for those achieving more than 
80% remains the same. 

 
 

 Lancashire CLA Key Stage 4 : 

 Total Cohort Ed. In Authority Ed .Out of Authority 

Special Educational Needs: (Source : Impulse ) 

With a Statement 30 35% 26 37% 4 28% 

 
Analysis :  

• 49 of the 85 pupils (58%)  had identified Special Educational Needs(SEND)   

• 13 Pupils with SEN (15.3%) not entered for any GCSEs, 10 attending Special Schools  

• Those with a statement is 10% higher than last year 
 

Behavioural Emotional 
and Social Difficulties   
x 13  

Moderate Learning 
difficulties   
x 10 
 

 

Severe Learning 
Difficulties :  
x 2 

Behavioural Emotional 
and Social Difficulties  
PLUS Moderate 
Learning difficulties  :x 5 

Physical Disability  
x 1  

Autistic Spectrum 
Disorder or Complex 
Difficulties  
x 2 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 22



9 

 

 Lancashire CLA Key Stage 4 : 

 Total Cohort Ed. In Authority Ed .Out of Authority 

Types of Educational Provision ( Source : ISSIS) 

Mainstream 54 64% 45 53% 9 64% 

Special School 22 26% 17 20% 5 36% 

Alternative Provision 9 11% 9 11% 0  

Removing Special Schools from exam analysis 

5 A*-C ‘s of children not 
in a special school  

18 of 63 29% 14 of 54 26% 4 of 9 44% 

5 A*-G’s of children not in 
special school 

38 of 63 60% 31 of 54 57% 5 of 9 56% 

 At least 1 A*- G’s of 
children not in special 
school 

54 of 63 68% 45 of 54 83% 9 of 9 100% 

5 A*-C incl Maths & Eng. 
For children not in a 
special school 

7 of 63 13% 8 of 54 10% 3 of 9  33% 

 
Analysis :  

• 36% of Lancashire children who are looked after were in Special Schools or Alternative Provision and only one of those pupils achieved 5 
A*-C including English and Maths.  

• Statistics appear to show that a child being educated at an out of county provision other than special school, stands more chance of 
achieving 5 A*-C.  However, there are many factors that must be considered and statistics like these can vary year on year depending on 
the cohort, previous levels, attendance and how much education has been missed. 

 

 Lancashire CLA Key Stage 4 : 

 Total Cohort Ed. In Authority Ed .Out of Authority 

Number of School Placements attended during KS4 ( source : ISSIS)) 

1 school 11 13% 11 of 71 15% 0 of 14  

2 schools  31 36% 29 41% 2  of 14 14% 

More than 2 schools 43 51% 31 44% 12 of 14 86% 

 
Analysis :  
- 51% of CLA had experienced  2 or more schools moves during Key Stage 4 . Evidence indicates that for the vast majority of  CLA, moving 

school has a detrimental effect on CLA  attainments . 

P
age 23



10 

 

- The majority of CLA had attended between  2 – 7  schools during Key Stage 4 , despite a concerted effort by CSC  not to move CYP during 
this Key Stage .  

- The children In Care Council debated this issue last year and they indicated that instability of school placement is even more disruptive to 
education  than a move of care placement ,as CYP lose friendship groups , social/class  groups , relationship with teachers, cannot always   
access the course / subject the CYP needs ,  plus , more than half of CICC indicated that they had been bullied at their 'new ' school, leading 
to attendance issues   

 

 Lancashire CLA Key Stage 4 : 

 Total Cohort Ed. In Authority Ed .Out of Authority 

Type of Care Placement (Source :ISSIS) 

Foster Care 49 58% 39 55% 10 71% 

Residential Care 29 34% 26 37% 3 21% 
Placed with Parents 7 8% 6 8% 1 7% 

Analysis :  

• There is a significant need for training for foster carers re  : Championing the Education of CLA. 

• Foster Carers and residential workers also informed us of their  lack of knowledge in relation to the Education System  ie SEND protocols 
and procedure( yet  58%  of Lancashire CLA have identified Special Educational Needs ) 

 
 

 Lancashire CLA Key Stage 4 : 

 Total Cohort Ed. In Authority Ed .Out of Authority 

Number of Care placements during time in care  (Source ISISS) 

1-3 36 42% 32 45% 4 29% 

4 – 6 27 32% 24 34% 3 21% 

More than 6 22 26% 15 21% 7 50% 

Analysis:   

• 58% of all Key Stage 4 CLA have experienced more than 3 care placements during their time in care.  

• This effects the educational attainments of CLA as they struggle to settle in a new care placement , and  often a new school.   
 

 Lancashire CLA Key Stage 4 : 

 Total Cohort Ed. In Authority Ed .Out of Authority 

CLA at University               2011         2012 
Lancashire  18 35     

Analysis : 

P
age 24



11 

 

• Although numbers appear to have increased, a longitudinal study is needed to ascertain 'drop out ' rate. i.e. How  many of the CLA 
starting a Higher education course in 2011 , remain at University in 2013 . 

 
 
SUCCESSFUL STRATEGIES IMPLEMENTED  

•  Maths and English  A-C were both prioritised for intensive support ( 1 to 1 teaching ) and PEPSA funding during 2012-2013 for Year 11, 
and this appears to have had a very positive  impact  on the numbers of CLA achieving Maths and English A-C, and vastly increases 
employment opportunities . 
 

• Rigorous tracking and monitoring of CLA progress by Virtual School Educational Consultants. The Educational Consultants undertake 
monthly tracking across all Residential Children's Homes , Schools and CLA Teams across Lancashire  
 

• Training for Designated Teachers for CLA in Secondary Schools, Short stay Schools and Special Schools was prioritised and promoted.  
 

• Reading and language skills promoted at Residential Children's Homes through the provision  of  new , up to date books , magazines ,  
newspapers etc  
 

• Reading , Writing , Maths, Language  and Social Skills have been promoted and improved through CLAs participation in CoPE ( 
Certificate of Personal Effectiveness ) challenges within Residential  Children's Homes  

 
 
 
 
 
IDENTIFIED AREAS FOR DEVELOPMENT  FOR 2013-2014 FOR ALL CLA / DISCUSSION  
 
1. Personal Education Plans :  

Background : 
- Quantity completed :   69,6% ( Jan 2014 based on data from EPEP system)  completed within time limits ( biannually ) . However  twice 

yearly, is not in line with schools assessing and reporting mechanisms – the PEP may needs to be reviewed termly  
- The Virtual School together with Children's Social care have agreed an Action Plan (December 2013) to raise the profile of PEPs and 

increase the % completed and maintained up to date, and increase the quality- the new target is 85% 
- The introduction of a new data system- Liquid Logic-from April 2014 – provides a new PEP framework, which it is hoped will increase the 

number of PEPs instigated. The format also increases the focus on educational targets and evaluation. 
- A new PEP protocol is to be drafted and agreed with amended guidance for Social Workers and schools. 

P
age 25



12 

 

- Revised training programme to be delivered to Senior Designated Teachers and Social Workers- with focus on new social workers. 
- School Advisers to explore if PEPs are completed as part of their challenge to schools. 

 
2 Designated Teachers for CLA  

 
- The DT for CLA in secondary schools is not always a senior member of staff with the 'clout' to actively promote the education of CLA within 

the school ie funding . 
- In many Primary Schools , the role of Designated Teacher for CLA is frequently undertaken by the headtaecher ( who will ensure that the 

CLA's needs are effectively met) .  
- However , this is rarely the case in secondary schools , where the role of the Designated teacher is often not a member of the senior 

Management Team 
- School Governors rarely receive a Report from the Designated Teacher for CLA, even though this is a statutory requirement   
 
3. CAMHS Involvement  
 
- Mental Heath issues are effecting 45% of CLA attendance and achievement in school. 

   
- Emotional Health of CLA : (Source DFE -2013 ) 
 

% of eligible CLA   for whom a 
Strengths and Difficulties 
Questionnaire (SDQ) was 
submitted 

Average 
score  

% of eligible CLA with SDQ score considered :- 

Normal  Borderline  Concerning 

England :     71% 14 50% 12% 38% 

Lancashire : 82% 13.5% 53% 13% 34% 

• A score of under 14 is considered normal, 14-16 is borderline cause for concern and 17 or over is cause for concern 
 
4. CLA convicted or subject to Final Warning or Reprimand  
 

England : 6.9% (2012) 6.2% (2013) Lancashire 8.7% (2012) 5.9% (2013) 

 
5. CLA involved in substance misuse . 

 
England : 4.1% (2012) 3.5% (2013) Lancashire : 5,2% (2012) 3.8% (2013) 

 
6.  CLA position at end of Key Stage 4 (Year 11) ( no figures yet for 2013 ) 

P
age 26



13 

 

 
 In Full Time Education  In Full time Training or 

Employment 
Unemployed  

England  71% 7% 16% 

Lancashire  70% 8% 18% 

 
Summary :  
 
To use OFSTED criteria , the Virtual School  is 'good' , with all CLA making good to very good progress and improvement  in most areas .  
 
However , there are also areas for improvement :- 
 

1. TRAINING : It appears that training of Social workers , Independent Reviewing Officers, Foster carers , Residential Workers, Designated  
Teachers for CLA , and School Governors is 'key' to CLA improving their attainments and achievements . These people are the front line 
'promoters' of education for CLAs. They are the frontline corporate parents for this vulnerable group of CYP, and must be encourages to 
act as 'pushy parents' for our CLA.  Consequently, their participation, contribution and 'challenge ' to the CLA's Personal Educational Plan 
is critical. 
The training delivered to Designated Teachers for CLA has already impacted on the attainments of CLA, particularly Primary CLA 
throughout 2011 -2012. 
The Training delivered to Foster Carers in December 2012 highlighted foster carers' and residential workers' lack of knowledge in relation 
to Lancashire's educational system and funding streams. This now needs to be rolled out across the county. 
 
 

2. FUNDING : Funding for CLA via Virtual School has ensured that CLA are not educationally disaffected or disadvantaged. The Personal 
Education Support Allowance ( PEPSA) has supported 496 x CLA who were underachieving to 'plug the gaps ' and 'catch up' on essential 
skills ie Literacy and Numeracy e.g 1 to 1 tuition , small group work, ICT learning packages.  
'Challenging ' schools to utilise the funds they have available for CLA in more creative and pragmatic ways has also been a priority this 
year. E.g Schools have : £600 Pupil Premium , £1200 above APW, and SEND funding ( if required ) up to the first £10,000.  
This work needs to continue. 
  

3. JOINT WORKING :  CSC , CAMHS, WTWTF, YPS and other services need to work together to achieve the above in promoting the 
education of CLA . Joint training is required ; for  staff within  services , and for stakeholders / clientele . 
 

 
  

  

P
age 27



P
age 28



Page 1 of 37 

 

 
Independent Reviewing 

Officers 
 

Annual Report  
Children Looked After  

& Safeguarding 
  
April 2012 – March 2013 

 

 

 
 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 29



Page 2 of 37 

 

Contents 

 
 

1. Foreword        Page 3 
 
 

2. Purpose of the Annual Report    Page 3 
 
 

3. The IRO Service      Page 4 
 

 
4. Performance       Page 10 

 
 

5. Quality Assurance      Page 20  
   

 
6. Evidence of Good Practice    Page 28   

 
 

7. Service Development     Page 30 
 
 

8. Challenges       Page 32 
 
 

9. Priorities for 2013/14     Page 33 
 
 

10.  Conclusion       Page 34 
 

Appendix 1         Page 36  
 
 

Page 30



Page 3 of 37 

 

1.  Foreword 
 
The Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) has a critical and unique role, having 
independent oversight of the child's case, with responsibility for ensuring that the child's 
welfare and interests are protected throughout the child protection and care planning 
process. They have a crucial role to quality assure practice. 
 
Although a challenging year for the IRO service, the report highlights the contribution 
made by IROs in improving outcomes for children looked after and those in need of 
protection. A review of the service has been completed and the service restructured, 
bringing together all IRO functions within one team consistent with the 'Munro Review of 
Child Protection', (February 2011), ensuring continuity of IRO for children and families. 
Although IRO caseloads remain high, there is evidence of effective challenge and 
resolution of issues to prevent drift in care planning, using both formal and informal 
resolution processes. Good practice is evident in facilitating the participation of children 
looked after in their reviews, using creative techniques, particularly where children have 
communication difficulties.  
 
The quality assurance functions within the service have been strengthened through the 
introduction of new IRO case file auditing arrangements and feedback from 
parents/carers has been used to make changes to the way child protection conferences 
are undertaken. However, it is recognised that opportunities need to be made available 
for children and young people to provide feedback in relation to the IRO service.  
 
IRO caseloads are now more equitable across the service and despite them remaining 
above the recommended caseload for IROs (70 cases maximum), good performance 
has been maintained.  

Following an inspection of safeguarding and looked after children services in 2012, 
Ofsted reported that 'Lancashire County Council have high aspirations for young people 
to achieve well and reach their full potential. Independent Reviewing Officers give high 
priority to encouraging looked after children, parents and carers to contribute to care 
planning and reviews.'  Feedback gathered from children and families throughout the 
year evidence that this practice has continued.  

 
2.  Purpose of the annual report 

'The IRO Handbook – statutory guidance for independent reviewing officers and local 
authorities on their functions in relation to case management and review for looked after 
children' (2010),  places a responsibility on the manager of the IROs for children who 
are looked after to produce an annual report for the scrutiny of the Corporate Parenting 
Board. Whilst there isn't a requirement to provide information in relation to safeguarding, 
IROs within Lancashire also fulfill an important safeguarding function, chairing child 
protection conferences and a range of strategy meetings. This information is therefore 
included within the report. 

Page 31



Page 4 of 37 

 

This is the third IRO annual report completed by the IRO service in Lancashire.  It 
provides a review of the work and findings of the IROs during the period from the 1st 
April 2012 to the 31st March 2013.  

The report provides statistical information regarding performance and more qualitative 
information from the IROs in relation to themes and trends. It highlights areas of good 
practice and identifies key challenges and priorities for further development during 
2013/14. The report will be presented to the Directorate Senior Leadership Team (DLT), 
the Corporate Parenting Board and the Lancashire Safeguarding Children Board 
(LSCB). 

3.  The IRO service 
 
Lancashire has had an IRO service since 1999, responsible for chairing looked after 
children reviews, child protection conferences and a range of specialist strategy 
meetings, including allegations against people working with children, suspected cases 
of fabricated/induced Illness, child sexual exploitation, children missing from home or 
care, children looked after who display sexually harmful behavior towards other children 
and cases of serious self harm of children who are looked after.  
 
3.1 Team structure 
 
IROs are located within the Safeguarding, Inspection & Audit Service which sits within 
the Specialist Services arm of the Directorate. It is independent of the line management 
structure of the district social work teams, therefore retaining the independence of the 
IROs.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

1 x Head of Safeguarding 
Inspection & Audit 

 

1 x Directorate Safeguarding 
Manager 

 

Quality & Review 
Manager 

 

Quality & Review 
Manager 

 

Quality & Review 
Manager 

 

9 x IROs 

1 x LADO 

6 x IROs 
2.5 x Fostering IROs 

 
Senior Child Employment & 

Entertainment Officer  

8.5 x IROs 
 

Schools 
Safeguarding 

Officer 

Page 32



Page 5 of 37 

 

The staffing complement for the service includes 23.5 FTE IROs and 2.5 Fostering 
IROs. The team consists of 5 male and 21 female IROs.  The majority of the team is 
white British, with English as their first language.  Three members of the team are from 
a black and minority ethnic background. Equal opportunities policies are upheld as part 
of the recruitment and selection process and there is always a BME panel member 
where this is required. All of the IROs have undertaken equality and diversity training to 
ensure equality of approach with all sectors of society. 
 
3.2 Post qualifying experience 
 
All IROs in Lancashire are required to have a minimum of five years post qualifying 
experience.  They have all worked in statutory child care settings and several have 
previous management experience. 

A detailed table of the level of post qualifying experience and length of service as IRO 
managers and IROs in Lancashire can be found in appendix 1. 

 
3.3 Restructure of the IRO service  

 
The annual report for 2011/12 proposed the implementation of a new IRO structure, 

combining the IRO roles for children looked after and safeguarding, promoting continuity 

of IRO for the child throughout their journey of involvement with children's services and 

to ensure more equitable caseloads across the IRO service.  

In August 2012 a training plan was developed in order to progress the merger of the 

teams and ensure IROs had the necessary skills to undertake their new functions. This 

included training delivered from the pool of knowledge already in the service and by 

colleagues in other parts of the Directorate. For example, in relation to transition and 

adoption.  Training for 'Experienced Child Protection Chairs' was commissioned 

externally. Feedback from the less experienced IROs particularly, confirmed they had 

found this beneficial. Shadowing opportunities across the team was mandatory and 

completed by all in order to learn processes and have 'live' experience of the different 

meetings IROs chair. 

In December 2012 the first phase of the amalgamation commenced with the 

Safeguarding IROs retaining any children subject to child protection plans who 

subsequently became looked after.  The Children Looked After IROs also became 

responsible for chairing strategy meetings in respect of children looked after. 

By the 7th January 2013 the teams had fully merged and were operating as one service. 

A duty system and a centralised referral point for all initial child protection conference 

requests was established for allocation purposes. 

Page 33



Page 6 of 37 

 

A review was also undertaken of the management structure within the Safeguarding, 

Inspection & Audit Service and a decision made to reduce the number of Tier 5 

manager posts from four to three, in order to increase IRO capacity through the creation 

of an additional IRO post.   

3.4 Staff recruitment and retention issues 

During 2012/13 the IRO service has faced further challenges in relation to the 

recruitment and retention of staff.  Two IRO managers were absent from work due to 

long term sickness leaving one IRO manager. A manager from within the Safeguarding 

Inspection and Audit Service therefore assisted with the management of the IRO team 

and the Directorate Safeguarding Manager also undertook some IRO supervision.  

One of the managers subsequently tendered their resignation and did not return to their 

post.  

During 2012/13 four IROs also had long term sickness absence. This presented 

challenges in terms of maintaining service delivery and consistency of IRO for children 

and young people. However, it is to the credit of the team that in spite of these 

challenges, combined with an increase in the number of children looked after and those 

subject to a child protection plan, good performance has been maintained, reflecting a 

high level of commitment to the children and families of Lancashire.    

In 2012 DLT approved the establishment of four additional IRO posts (two permanent 
and two temporary) given the additional demands on the service. There have been four 
separate recruitment attempts in 2012/13 to recruit to IRO vacancies:   

• In May 2012, one full-time equivalent (FTE) permanent post was filled from within 
the residential service.  

• In August 2012, 1.5 FTE permanent posts were filled.  One of these was an 
external candidate and one was internal.  

• In October 2012, 2.5 FTE permanent posts were filled.  Two of these were 
external candidates and one was internal. Unfortunately, one offer of 
appointment had to be withdrawn due to unsatisfactory references.  A full time 
secondment was also secured along with a part time secondment to the fostering 
IRO function of the service.   

• In January 2013, three FTE permanent posts were filled.  Two of these were 
internal appointments and one was external. 

 
Agency staff have been used since August 2012 to assist in the management of IRO 
vacancies pending recruitment to permanent posts.  At the time of writing this report the 
IRO service has the following vacant posts: 

• 1 x temporary part-time post as a result of IRO maternity leave (until September 
2013). 

• 1 x temporary part time IRO. 

Page 34



Page 7 of 37 

 

In the last six months additional hours have been agreed with a number of the part-time 
IROs to assist the service, meaning that the actual vacancy position is now is 0.9FTE 
posts.  This will reduce to 0.6 FTE posts as another part-time IRO has agreed to work  
additional hours from late summer 2013. 

A further recruitment campaign is being undertaken due to one IRO and one Fostering 
IRO submitting their notice of intention to retire.  Both of these IROs will have left the 
service by the 31st August 2013. 

One of the IRO managers has also secured alternative employment in a neighbouring 
authority (in order to work closer to home) and will also leave the Directorate by the end 
of August 2013.  

3.5 Caseloads 

Prior to the amalgamation of the service caseloads on the Children Looked After Team 

ranged from 100 to 137.  Caseloads on the Safeguarding IRO Team ranged from 79 to 

171 throughout the year. The latter was due to an increase in children subject to a child 

protection plan in one district. Cases were reallocated to ensure greater equitability. 

The number of looked after children in Lancashire during 2012/13 has ranged from 

1,345 at its lowest to 1,482 at its highest. 

The table below indicates the number of looked after children during 2012/13 and 
shows a rise over the course of the year. 
 
 
 
APR 

12 

MAY 

12 

JUN 

12 

JUL 

12 

AUG 

12 

SEP 

12 

OCT 

12 

NOV 

12 

DEC 

12 

JAN 

13 

FEB 

13 

MAR 

13 

1345 1349 1362 1380 1401 1412 1440 1450 1461 1462 1479 1482 

 
At year end the total number of Children looked After has increased by 11.26% 
compared with the previous year. 
 
The number of children subject to a child protection plan in Lancashire during 2012/13 

has ranged from 518 at its lowest to 878 at its highest.  

The tables below indicate the number of children subject to a child protection plan in 
2012/13 and show a rise over the course of the year. 
 
APR 

12 

MAY 

12 

JUN 

12 

JUL 

12 

AUG 

12 

SEP 

12 

OCT 

12 

NOV 

12 

DEC 

12 

JAN 

13 

FEB 

13 

MAR 

13 

518 540 549 587 644 700 719 781 802 831 862 878 

 
Children subject to a child protection plan per 10,000 population in 2012/13: 
 

Page 35



Page 8 of 37 

 

  2007/8 2008/9 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 

Lancashire 20.30 26.17 26.94 27.26 22.36 36.10 

SN's 25.60 32.36 33.53 38.95 34.6   

England - National 
Average 26.50 31.0 35.50 38.30 37.80 

 

 

The year ending 31st March 2013 shows a 60.5% rise in the number of children subject 

to a child protection plan compared with the previous year.  Given this significant 

increase a piece of research was commissioned from the Directorate's Performance 

Team to aid understanding of the data and the implications for practice.  The key 

findings were as follows: 

� There were 'spikes' of activity in May, July, October, November 2012 and 

January 2013. 

� Prior to Christmas 2012 the increases were most noticeably seen in Burnley, 

Lancaster and Preston.  From January 2013 these districts appear to have 

stabilised and further increases in the county rate have largely been attributable 

to increases in Chorley, South Ribble, Hyndburn and Wyre which have generated 

an additional 88 cases between them. 

� The number of child protection plans shows some correlation with deprivation 

indices, with the most deprived districts reporting a higher number of child 

protection plans per 10,000 population and vice versa. 

� Preston's rate appears unusually high even when taking deprivation into account. 

� A comparison of child protection cases in Preston, Burnley and Lancaster has 

revealed that the children who became subject to plans in Preston during 2012 

tended to be older and were more likely to have had several previous referrals.  

This would appear to support the hypothesis that the increase in child protection 

plans was due to a lowering of the threshold for statutory intervention.  

The chart below indicates the number of children looked after and children subject to a 

child protection plan by district for March 2013. 

Page 36



Page 9 of 37 

 

 

District No of CLA No of CP plans Total 

Lancaster 140 66 206 

Fylde & Wyre 94 69 163 

Preston 199 221 420 

Chorley & SR 175 113 288 

West 135 124 355 

Hyndburn & RV 211 124 335 

Burnley 204 89 293 

Pendle 221 97 318 

Rossendale 103 29 132 

TOTAL 1482 878 2360 

 

There is a combined total of 2,360 children looked after and children subject to a child 

protection plan. If fully staffed caseloads would be approximately 100. However, with 

the current 0.90 FTE vacancy, the average IRO caseload is 105. This is still above the 

IRO handbook recommendation for an IRO to be able to carry out their duties and 

responsibilities in their entirety, but is an improved position to that reported in last year's 

annual report. Staff sickness has impacted on IRO capacity where IROs have provided 

cover for additional meetings in order to maintain a service to children and families.  

This work is not reflected in caseloads but is evident in workload and diary 

commitments.   

 

  

Page 37



Page 10 of 37 

 

4.  Performance 
 
4.1 Number of meetings 

The rise in the number of children looked after and children subject to a child protection 

plan has resulted in a significant increase in the number of meetings chaired by an IRO, 

particularly the number of child protection conferences. This has a direct impact on IRO 

capacity. 

Numbers of CLA Reviews 

2010/2011 2011/2012 2012/2013 

2,862 3,731 4,080 

 
This increase of reviews equates to 9.35% more meetings than the previous year. 
 

Numbers of Initial Child Protection Conferences 

2010/2011 2011/2012 2012/2013 

 854 1387 

 
This increase in initial child protection conferences equates to 61.57% more meetings 
than the previous year. 
 

Numbers of Review Child Protection Conferences 

2010/2011 2011/2012 2012/2013 

 2,067 2,374 

 
This increase in review child protection conferences equates to 14.85% more meetings 
than the previous year. 
 

Numbers of Strategy Meetings chaired by an IRO 

2010/2011 2011/2012 2012/2013 

 202 222 

 

This increase in strategy meetings equates to 9.9% more meetings than the previous 

year. 

 

4.2 Performance relating to children looked after 

4.2.1 Legal status of children looked after 

The table below provides a breakdown of the legal status of children looked after as at 

the 31st March 2013.   

Page 38



Page 11 of 37 

 

District Interim 
Care 
Order 

Care 
Order 

Sec 20 
Accommodated 

Remand EPO/PPO Placement 
orders 

Total 

Lancaster 24 55 25  1 35 140 

Fylde & Wyre 19 47 23   5 94 

Preston 39 97 21 6  36 199 

Chorley & SR 30 93 26  1 25 175 

West 22 75 30   8 135 

Hyndburn & RV 62 93 31   25 211 

Burnley 65 90 21 1  27 204 

Pendle 52 101 23  2 43 221 

Rossendale 10 58 25   10 103 

TOTAL 323 709 225 7 4 214 1482 

 

47.8% of the children looked after population is subject to a Care Order. This group of 

children are predominantly in long term fostering or residential placements, although 

some children may be placed at home with a parent under a home placement 

agreement. 

15.1% of children are accommodated by agreement under section 20 of The Children 

Act 1989.  These children are usually between the ages of 10 and 18 and have been 

accommodated due to family relationship breakdowns or due to an illness or disability of 

either a parent or child.  There are a small number of children who will be 

accommodated with the consent of their parents whilst Children's Social Care secures a 

legal order through the courts.  There are an even smaller number of children in this 

group where they have lost both parents and have no other family members able to 

care for them.  

14% of children are subject to a Placement Order and have a plan of adoption.  32.7% 

are placed with their adoptive families.  There are a small number of children subject to 

a Placement Order where their care plan is no longer adoption. Regular audits evidence 

that these children are all in the process of having their legal status changed in 

accordance with their care plan.  

Out of the total number of children looked after, 1,154 are looked after due to abuse or 

neglect. Other categories of need include family dysfunction, family in acute stress and 

child or parent has an illness or disability. 

4.2.2 Placements of children looked after 

Of the 1,482 children that are looked after by Lancashire County Council, 63.7% (942 

children) are placed within local authority placements.  The remaining 36.3% (540 

children) are placed with carers approved by an agency. 

Page 39



Page 12 of 37 

 

The majority of children are placed within either an adoptive or foster family. (1,123 

children which equates to 75.8%). Of those children placed in an agency placement, 

75% are placed with a foster carer.   

A much smaller number of children are placed within residential settings.  3.6% (53 

children) live within a Lancashire County Council children's residential unit and 4.6% (68 

children) live in a residential home provided by an agency. 

16% (238 children/young people) live in other settings, for example, supported living as 

they prepare to leave care. Also included in this particular group of children are 

remanded young people, young people in very specialist placements due to specific 

needs such as mental health related issues and there is 1 young person currently on a 

Section 25 welfare Secure Order and is placed in a secure unit. 

4.2.3 Placement stability 

The percentage of children looked after having 3 or more placements during the past 12 

months is low at 8.7%. (A low percentage is an indicator of good performance. In 

2011/12: statistical neighbours: 10.6% and England average: 11%). The percentage of 

looked after children who were living in the same placement for at least 2 years is  

73.4%, which represents an improvement of 1.7% on performance in the previous year. 

4.2.4 Age and gender breakdown of children looked after 

The table below provides a breakdown of the gender and ages of children looked after 

as at the 31st March 2013. 

Age group Female Male Unborn TOTAL 

Under 1 60 54 1 115 

1 to under 5 139 184  323 

5 to under 10 148 165  313 

10 to under 16 211 286  497 

16 to under 18 109 125  234 

County Total 667 814 1 1482 

 
4.2.5 Participation (PAF 63) 
 
Performance in relation to participation remains high with the majority of looked after 
children in Lancashire either attending or contributing to their review. Although the table 
below shows a dip in performance in 2012/13, this has to be set in the context of a 
higher number of children in this cohort over the age of 4 years than in the previous 
year. In 2012/13 there were just 56 children who either chose not to contribute or were 
unable to contribute to their review. (1,006 out of 1,062 children and young people over 
four years of age actually contributed). 
 

Page 40



Page 13 of 37 

 

 
Participation of children looked after in their review: 
 

2008/9 90.3% 

2009/10 89.7% 

2010/11 97.4% 

2011/12 96.2% 

2012/13 94.7% 

 

4.2.6 Reviews held within timescale (NI66) 
 
Performance in relation to the number of children and young people having their care 

plans reviewed within statutory timescales has decreased by 1.2% in 2012/13.  Out of 

the cohort of 1,360 children, 68 reviews were held outside of the timescale. This has to 

be set in the context of a rise in the care population which equates to an 11.26% 

increase in comparison to the previous year and this in turn equates to a 9.35% 

increase in the number of CLA reviews compared to the previous year. 

Percentage of reviews held within timescale: 

2006/7 2007/8 2008/9 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 

79.6% 86% 95.7% 95.6% 97.8% 96.2% 95% 

 

4.3  Performance relating to safeguarding 

4.3.1 Child protection plans by category of abuse 

The table below gives a breakdown of child protection plans during 2012/13 by category 

of abuse. This highlights the continuing high prevalence of neglect cases.  Neglect 

accounts for 45.67% of child protection plans in Lancashire with the second largest 

category being emotional abuse at 36.2%. Neglect remains a priority for the LSCB and 

Directorate and a considerable amount of research has been undertaken in Lancashire, 

identifying the characteristics of neglect, defining good outcomes and aiding our 

understanding of the experiences of children and families. This work informed the 

development of a neglect strategy (approved by the LSCB in April 2013) which sets out 

Lancashire's approach in tackling neglect.   

 

Page 41



Page 14 of 37 

 

Number of CP plans 
at the report end date 

3
0
th
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
1
2
 

3
1
s
t 
M
a
y
 2
0
1
2
 

3
0
th
 J
u
n
e
 2
0
1
2
 

3
1
s
t 
J
u
ly
 2
0
1
2
 

3
1
s
t 
A
u
g
u
s
t 
2
0
1
2
 

3
0
th
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
1
2
 

3
1
s
t 
O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
1
2
 

3
0
th
 N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
1
2
 

3
1
s
t 
D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
1
2
 

3
1
s
t 
J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
1
3
 

2
8
th
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
1
3
 

3
1
s
t 
M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
3
 

EMOTIONAL ABUSE 186 168 181 201 228 232 241 252 281 303 305 318 

NEGLECT 241 272 269 276 294 332 341 381 370 372 393 401 

PHYSICAL ABUSE 52 68 65 62 69 77 75 83 84 90 100 93 

SEXUAL ABUSE 39 32 34 48 53 59 62 65 67 66 64 66 

Total  518 540 549 587 644 700 719 781 802 831 862 878 

 

 

 

4.3.2 Child protection plans by age  

 

The table below provides a breakdown of children subject to a child protection plan by 

age as at the 31st March 2013. 

 

Page 42



Page 15 of 37 

 

District Under 1 1 to 
4years 

5 to 9 
years 

10 to 15 
years 

16 and 
over  

Total 

Lancaster 8 29 15 14 0 66 

Fylde & Wyre 12 21 20 14 2 69 

Preston 34 70 53 59 5 221 

Chorley & SR 14 38 32 27 2 113 

West 10 17 23 21 2 73 

Hyndburn & RV 19 39 29 30 4 121 

Burnley 13 35 23 14 2 89 

Pendle 10 31 24 28 4 97 

Rossendale 6 7 12 4 0 29 

TOTAL 126 287 233 211 21 878 

 

Whilst there has been a rise in the number of children subject to a child protection plan 

overall, the table below identifies the increase by age categories. Although the 16 plus 

category shows the largest increase, this was actually only an increase from 12 to 21 

children.   

Under 1 1 to 4years 5 to 9 years 10 to 15 years 16 and over  

41% increase 68% increase 59% increase 62% increase 75% increase 

 

4.3.3 NI 67: Percentage of review child protection conferences held within 

timescale 

  2007/8 2008/9 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 

Lancashire 100% 99.6% 100% 100% 98.90% 96.5% 

SN's 99.8% 99.7% 97.1% 96.4 98%   

England - National 
Average 99.4% 99.1% 96.8% 97.1% 96.7% 

 

 

96.5%% of children subject to a child protection plan were reviewed within the required 

timescale. It is acknowledged that there has been a slight drop in performance which is 

below the target of 100%. However, performance is still within the top band for this 

indicator. The 3.5% of cases where reviews were held beyond the requisite timescale 

involved twenty children. In seven conferences (involving sixteen children) this was due 

to the adjournment of the conference.  Conferences were adjourned for a number of 

reasons. For example, a parent needed an advocate; a child was in hospital with the 

parent in attendance and invite letters to one of the conferences involving six children 

were incorrect. This meant attendees arrived late and there was insufficient time to hold 

Page 43



Page 16 of 37 

 

the meeting which had to be rearranged. The reconvened conference was held within 

20 working days. However, this fell outside of the original review timescale. The other 

conferences held out of time were due to delays by another local authority in arranging 

a child protection transfer conference following the relocation of the family and in one 

case the review was late due to human error with the conference being arranged out of 

time.  

This has been addressed by the management team and IROs have been reminded that 

they must book review conferences with five months rather than six months, thus giving 

time to reconvene within timescale should there be a need for an adjournment.  

Adjournments are now being monitored on a monthly basis to monitor the frequency of 

this. Tighter control measures have also been put in place requiring that IROs and 

Social Worker's seek the permission of their manager for authorisation to change a 

review date. 

4.3.4   NI64: Percentage of children ceasing to be the subject of a child protection 

plan during the 12 month period who had been subject of a child protection plan 

for 2 years or more 

As detailed in the table below the proportion of children subject to a child protection plan 

for more than two years has decreased significantly from 4.4% (2011/12) to 2.6% 

(2012/13) and performance remains well within the top national banding (0<10) for this 

indicator.   

  2007/8 2008/9 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 

Lancashire 5.3% 2.9% 3.8% 4.8% 4.4% 2.6% 

SN's 5.0% 6.7% 7.9% 7.5% 6.0%   

England - National 
Average 5.3% 5.8% 5.9% 6.0%  5.6% 

 

 

Performance has varied across the nine district teams with the percentage of children 

ceasing to be subject of a child protection plan after two years ranging from 2.33% in 

the Lancaster district to 16.67% in Ribble Valley. It is difficult, however to draw any 

meaningful conclusions from this variation as the latter district has the fewest number of 

child protection plans and therefore this percentage reflects a very small numerical 

change. 

This decrease on an already very low figure is perhaps a reflection of the fact that child 

protection cases are well managed (as highlighted by Ofsted in the inspection of 

safeguarding and looked after children, 2012) and IROs together with District Senior 

Page 44



Page 17 of 37 

 

Managers and Team Managers regularly review all children who have been subject to a 

child protection plan over twelve months. Where progress is not being made to 

significantly improve the life chances of the child, cases are progressed into 

proceedings. Where significant improvement has been made the appropriate decision is 

made to cease the child protection plan. In these circumstances cases are appropriately 

deescalated to child in need to ensure continuation of support for the family.  

This indicator relates to children who have ceased to be on a child protection plan.  It is 

perhaps more helpful to consider the actual duration of time on a plan and this is 

detailed below. 

4.3.5 Duration of child protection plans 

In understanding the increase in children subject to a child protection plan, 

consideration also needs to be given to the duration of those plans.  

The below table details the number of child protection plans ceased per month during 

2012/13 and the duration of the plan upon cessation.  

 

 APR 

12 

MAY 

12 

JUN 

12 

JUL 

12 

AUG 

12 

SEP 

12 

OCT 

12 

NOV 

12 

DEC 

12 

JAN 

13 

FEB 

13 

MAR 

13 

< 6 Months 
 

29 21 18 28 25 41 47 40 35 45 34 27 

6 months to 
1 year 

36 27 28 20 12 20 26 36 13 34 26 35 

1 to 2 years 
 

10 18 11 13 13 17 14 15 11 13 13 10 

2+ years 8 4 0 4 0 3 3 0 4 0 2 1 
 

Total 83 70 57 65 50 81 90 91 63 92 75 73 

 
The following table details the above information as a percentage:  
 

 APR 

12 

MAY 

12 

JUN 

12 

JUL 

12 

AUG 

12 

SEP 

12 

OCT 

12 

NOV 

12 

DEC 

12 

JAN 

13 

FEB 

13 

MAR 

13 

< 6 Months 
 

34.9 30.0 31.6 43.1 50.0 50.6 52.2 44.0 55.6 48.9 45.3 37.0 

6 months to 
1 year 

78.3 68.6 80.7 73.8 74.0 75.3 81.1 83.5 76.2 85.9 80.0 84.9 

1 to 2 years 
 

21.7 31.4 19.3 26.2 26.0 24.7 18.9 16.5 23.8 14.1 20.0 15.1 

2+ years 9.6 5.7 0.0 6.2 0.0 3.7 3.3 0.0 6.3 0.0 2.7 1.4 
 

Page 45



Page 18 of 37 

 

 

 

During the year 2012-13 a child protection plan was ceased in respect of 890 children. 

On average 74 child protection plans were ceased per month (range 50-91).  In 43.8% 

of the plans ceased (involving 390 children) the child had been subject of a child 

protection plan for less than six months. In practice terms this means the plan ended at 

the first review approximately ten weeks after the conference decision that a child 

required safeguarding through a formal child protection plan.   

Given that a child protection intervention is a costly process, both in terms of the 

financial and human costs, it is a concern that in a significant number of cases the 

decision to implement a child protection plan had changed by the first review.     

The following scenarios may account for this: 

� On the basis of a more in-depth assessment agencies felt that the risk was 

manageable outside of the formal child protection process. This may suggest that 

the threshold for children entering the child protection system is too low requiring 

further analysis; 

� The plan ended because the child had become looked after, suggesting that 

more detailed assessment highlighted a need to safeguard a child outside of the 

family. This may suggest that the child protection intervention came too late 

and/or was not able to preserve the child safely within their family; 

� The plan ended optimistically before meaningful and lasting change was 

achieved; 

Page 46



Page 19 of 37 

 

� The plan ended as the child moved out of Lancashire and case responsibility 

transferred to the receiving authority. 

If the third factor was significant this would be evident in a high rate of re-registrations, 

and particularly re-registrations within one year of the plan being ceased. However, this 

is not the case, which indicates that decisions to end child protection plans are taken 

safely. 

To consider the influence of the first two factors requires some understanding of what 

happens to children when the child protection plan ends and why the decision to end 

the plan was made.  

Of the total number of plans ceased in the year (890, regardless of duration) 24.25% 

(291 children) were looked after at the time the plan ended. This means that one in four 

children ceasing to be subject of a child protection plan will become looked after. 

Further audit work will be undertaken in order to gain more insight into the duration of 

child protection plans and in particular those that have ended in less than six months.  

This analysis will be shared with District Senior Managers for consideration of further 

actions.  

4.3.6  NI65 Re-Registrations: Percentage of children who become subject of a 

child protection plan at anytime during the year who had previously been 

subject of a child protection plan regardless of how long ago  

NI 65 illustrates the percentage of children who became subject to a child protection 

plan in the last twelve months who had previously been the subject of a child protection 

plan, regardless of how long ago that was.  Good performance has been maintained 

against this indicator with performance above target being achieved. (Nationally good 

performance is deemed to be between 10 – 15%. Target for 2012/13: 13%, actual 

performance: 12.3%).   

  2007/8 2008/9 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 

Lancashire (internal data) 14% 12.6% 13.3% 13.7% 10.8% 12.3% 

DFE definition1 17.8% 16.7% 

SN's 13.3% 13.0% 15.0% 12.5% 15.6%   

England - National 
Average 13.6% 13.5% 13.4% 13.3% 13.8% 

 

                                                           
1
 Following the submission of this report it was identified that Lancashire internal data on re-registrations 
does not include children previously subject of plans in another Local Authority area whereas the updated 
DFE national indicator definition does so.  The updated data return has therefore been added. 

Page 47



Page 20 of 37 

 

 

 

4.3.7 Children Subject to a child protection plan who are also a child looked after 

On the 31st March 2013, there were 49 children who were subject to a child protection 

plan whilst also being looked after by the authority. Of these children, 19 were subject to 

Interim Care Orders, 29 were accommodated under Section 20 of the Children Act 1989 

and one young person was remanded.  

The merger of the IRO service should minimise this duplication. Children who are 

subject to a child protection plan who then become looked after have their review child 

protection conference brought forward within the 20 day timescale for the first child 

looked after review and the meetings are held consecutively.  This reduces the need for 

children to be subject to a dual process.  It will only be in exceptional circumstances that 

a child needs to be subject to a child protection plan whilst also being looked after.  For 

example, when the plan is for a child to return home very quickly. 

5.  Quality assurance 

5.1 Themes arising from IRO quality assurance 
 
The IROs are required to complete a quality assurance check following each child 
looked after review and child protection conference.  Although due to capacity issues 
this hasn't been achieved, with IROs prioritising those cases requiring escalation. In 
2012 the IRO checklist was amended to include more qualitative information and is 
used to identify good practice and any deficits which need to be addressed. The IRO 
managers regularly audit the checklists to identify any trends and share the findings in 
the District/IRO Cluster Meetings. (A quarterly meeting between the IROs and 
operational managers).    
 
In 2012/2013, 2,648 quality assurance checklists were completed in respect of CLA 

reviews and child protection conferences.  This is a decrease in the number completed 

in 2011/12. However, this needs to be set in the context of a rise in the care population 

and the number of children subject to a child protection plan and the increasing 

workload this places on the IRO Team. 

The importance of quality assurance continues to be reinforced by the IRO managers 
as it is considered an integral part of the IRO role. The following practice themes have 
been identified by the IROs:  
 
5.1.1 Preparation for reviews/conferences 
 

Page 48



Page 21 of 37 

 

There is evidence that reports are completed by Social Workers prior to a CLA review or 
Child Protection Conference taking place in a high number of cases.  However, there is 
also evidence that reports are not shared with children and their families within the 
required timescales prior to the meeting on most occasions. (Three days prior to a CLA 
review, one day for an Initial Child Protection Conference and two days for a Review 
Child Protection Conference). This means that children and families may not be 
adequately prepared for meetings and meetings may be of a longer duration to ensure 
everyone has had the opportunity to read the reports. It is the IROs responsibility, as 
defined by the IRO Handbook, to ensure that children and parents are appropriately 
prepared for meetings and the IRO can adjourn the meeting to allow more preparation 
time.  There are a number of adjournments that have taken place in 2012/13 for this 
reason in both CLA reviews and conferences.  In these circumstances the IRO 
reconvenes the meeting within a maximum of 20 working days. 
 
95% of children and young people are recorded as being consulted and prepared prior 
to their children looked after reviews. 
 

5.1.2 Review recommendations  
 

There is evidence that the recommendations from children looked after reviews are 
completed by the IRO within the five working day timescale in a high number of cases, 
approximately 85%.  However, it is acknowledged that due to capacity issues the full 
review report is not completed and distributed within the requisite 15 working days. This 
is currently achieved in approximately 55% of cases.  
 
The completion of review recommendations is evident in a high number of cases. IROs 
are undertaking midpoint review checks to track the progress of recommendations 
between reviews. This ensures the timely completion of review recommendations and 
means that outcomes for children and young people will improve as the care plan is 
progressed.  
   
5.1.3 Appropriate legal status and care plans for children and young people 

 
In 99% of the quality assurance checklists completed the child/young person is reported 
to have an appropriate legal status. The remaining 1% includes children who are 
accommodated under S20 of the Children Act 1989, but the need to initiate care 
proceedings has been identified and a small number of children subject to a Placement 
Order where the plan is no longer adoption. Quarterly audits of these cases ensure 
timely applications are made to the court seeking revocation of the order.  
 
There are approximately 2% of children who have an inappropriate legal status where 
this is incorrectly recorded on their electronic case record. Care plans for CLA are 
recorded as being appropriate in a high number of cases but approximately 6% are not 
recorded correctly. Recording issues are highlighted by the IRO to ensure the case 
record is corrected. 
 

Page 49



Page 22 of 37 

 

The quality assurance checklists highlight that IROs are receiving court reports and 
legal orders in only 67% of cases subject to court proceedings.  IRO managers continue 
to notify the legal department upon the allocation of an IRO to a child and IROs follow 
up with the legal department where they have not received documents.  A meeting will 
be arranged with legal services to identify any barriers that are preventing a consistent 
provision of court reports across the service. 
 
 
 
 

5.1.4 The provision of life story books 
 
The IROs have reported through their quality assurance role delays in the completion of 
life story books in respect of children placed for adoption.  Where necessary this has 
been addressed through the formal problem resolution process. 
 
The adoption service has responded to the issues raised by the IROs, with the  

resolution that funding has been allocated from the recently acquired Adoption 

Improvement Grant  to support two additional social workers for a time limited period to 

complete outstanding work within the service, including life story work. 

In the longer term the development of a Central Care Proceedings Team (also funded 

by the Adoption Reform Grant) will ensure that material for life story work is collated 

from an early stage. The development of the Central Care Proceedings Team will also 

facilitate swifter adoption care planning and placement in the future and achieve 

additional capacity to complement the Children Awaiting Adoption Team function. 

5.1.5 Multi-agency attendance at child protection conferences 
 
There is evidence of good multi agency attendance at child protection conferences and 
continuing good multi agency work with children who are made subject to a child 
protection plan. It is noted that some attendance by agencies at core groups isn't as 
consistent as it should be and attendance at subsequent review conferences can be 
less than at initial conferences. 
 
Following a Serious Case Review recommendation an audit was commissioned of the 
participation of schools in conferences and core groups with the following key findings: 
 
The participation of 15 primary and 21 secondary schools was audited and this included 
two special schools and one independent school.  
 
The audit highlighted some good examples of schools participation, evidenced in 

meeting notes, where school's reports are child focused and schools have 

demonstrated a clear understanding of complex cases along with empathy for the child 

or young person themselves. There is further evidence that information has been 

Page 50



Page 23 of 37 

 

shared and discussed widely within the meeting in addition to evidence that school 

representatives have asked appropriate questions, sometimes regarding child 

protection processes or in considering the impact of the child protection plan. 

Nearly all schools were consistently represented by the named core group member. For 

primary schools this was usually the Head or Deputy Head Teacher and for secondary 

schools this was the Head/Deputy Head Teacher, the Designated Senior Person, 

Special Educational Needs Coordinator or a key worker. For example, Pastoral Care or 

a Family Support Worker. 

Following a recommendation from the audit, the Schools Safeguarding Officer is now 

involved in addressing any non attendance or non participation issues in conferences 

directly with the schools involved. 

5.2 Themes arising from parent/carer questionnaires 
 
Parents and carers are asked to provide feedback of their experience of Lancashire's 
child protection processes at two key points; after the initial child protection conference 
and following the review conference.  39 questionnaires were returned for initial 
conferences and 57 were completed following the review. The following themes have 
been identified: 
 
5.2.1 Initial child protection conferences 
 

In a high proportion of cases (92% of respondents), the parent/carer advised that they 
understood why a child protection conference had been held and they had met with the 
IRO prior to the start of the conference so their role and the conduct of the meeting had 
been explained to them. Interestingly only 69% indicated they had been given the 
opportunity to speak to the IRO at the end of the meeting. This is an area for 
development within the service.  
 
The majority of respondents (90%) felt they had been able to express their views. 

However, a small number of responses highlighted the complexity of reports and the 

difficulty remembering everything when several agency reports are discussed.  As a 

result of this some parents/carers felt that they were not able to contribute as fully as 

they would have wanted to. 

Compounding this was that some parents/carers reported it was hard to remember who 

everybody was at the conference due to the high level of anxiety at the start of the 

meeting. This has been addressed and name plates are now used in conferences. 

Whilst the majority of respondents (85%) knew who would be attending, some hadn't felt 

prepared by the social worker and were also unsure about the relevance of some 

professionals attending.   

Page 51



Page 24 of 37 

 

38% of respondents reported that they don't receive conference reports 24 hours before 

the meeting. This was the main criticism in feedback from the questionnaires. Several 

comments state that reports had only been received upon their arrival ten, fifteen or 

sixty minutes prior to the meeting. Other comments relate to specific reports that were 

missing from the conference pack; the most common missing report was the police 

report. However, this is most likely due to the confidential nature of this information.  

Sensitivity of information was another issue identified by parents/carers. Whilst it was 

understood that information would be shared with other agencies, some respondents 

hadn't recognised the level of information that would be discussed within the conference 

and questioned whether all attendees should be privy to that information. 

74% of respondents reported that the conference appeals process had been explained 

to them, although in some cases this had only been discussed briefly. Written 

information is always available at the conference explaining the appeals process. IROs 

will be reminded to make reference to this during the introduction to the meeting.  

The anxiety and distress experienced by some parents/carers attending initial child 

protection conferences is acknowledged, although some comments highlighted the 

focus was rightly on the child and although at times difficult, they understood the need 

for this. In terms of suggestions to improve services, the need for empathy and to be 

treated with dignity and respect was identified. Other comments included the need for 

more time to read reports, the need for the right professionals to be in attendance, 

listening to the views of parents as well as children, the need for better communication 

and having a list of professionals in attendance.        

5.2.2 Review child protection conferences 

Feedback from the questionnaires highlights that in a high proportion of cases (95%) 

monthly core groups are taking place and parents are invited to attend in almost all 

cases. The majority of responses (95%) indicate that parents/carers are able to express 

their views and feel listened to. One response commented that they felt scared of giving 

their opinion as they didn't feel listened to. This reinforces the need for awareness of 

perceived power imbalances between parents/carers and professionals.  

In a significant number of cases (35%) respondents again identified that reports are not 

shared in the requisite timescales (48 hours) before the review conference. This was 

the main criticism in feedback from the questionnaires.  

Parents/carers report that they meet with the IRO prior to conference in a high number 

of cases and all the comments were positive about the chairperson, many referring to 

their kind nature, empathy and understanding of the parents' situation.  They also 

reported feeling supported by the IRO. Responses confirmed that parents/carers feel 

Page 52



Page 25 of 37 

 

able to share their views in the review and feel listened to. This suggests that they feel 

more able to share their views in the review child protection conference, probably 

because they are more familiar with the process and feel less anxious.  

Feedback highlights the critical role of the IRO in terms of whether the process has 

been a good or bad experience for parents/carers. From the comments received it is 

evident that a good chairperson makes participants feel listened to, supported and 

important in what is for most a stressful situation.  

Likewise, the comments highlight the importance of good professional relationships and 

how professionals can empower families in child protection to make positive changes in 

their child's lives. The emphasis being on the people in the process rather than process 

itself.  

Within the questionnaire parents/carers are asked to share any comments about the 

process and their experience.  Feedback centres on the feelings of the parent/carers at 

the end of a complex process, and are largely expected: 'Stressful', 'It's hard', 

'rollercoaster of emotions'. However, positive statements were also made about their 

journey and the outcomes for their family: 'finally got me and my children's life back to 

normal', 'changed my life to a better one', 'very beneficial', 'an eye opener'. 

5.3 Problem resolution 
 
One of the key functions of the IRO is to resolve problems arising out of the care 
planning process. The Problem Resolution Protocol provides a formal process for the 
IRO to raise concerns when informal attempts to resolve the issue have failed. 
 
Currently this process is used in respect of the IRO duties in relation to children looked 
after.  However, the process has been developed to replicate this process in the child 
protection arena.   
 

Starred recommendations by district: 2010/11        2011/12      2012/13 

 

LANCASTER DISTRICT 4 2 3 

FYLDE & WYRE DISTRICT 0 1 1 

PRESTON DISTRICT 4 2 0 

CHORLEY & SOUTH RIBBLE 

DISTRICT 
2 

7 6 

WEST LANCASHIRE 

DISTRICT 
1 

2 1 

Page 53



Page 26 of 37 

 

HYNDBURN & RIBBLE 

VALLEY DISTRICT 
1 

4 1 

BURNLEY DISTRICT 4 4 0 

PENDLE DISTRICT 2 1 0 

ROSSENDALE DISTRICT 2 2 1 

SPECIALIST SERVICES 

(located outside of districts) 
N/A 

N/A 10 

TOTAL 20 25 23 

 
 

 
There were 23 starred recommendations in 2012/2013. Of these, one was referred to 

Cafcass, which is the highest stage in the resolution process.  At the time of writing this 

report, one remains a live issue and is at stage 5. Two were resolved at stage 4 of the 

Problem Resolution Protocol and the remaining 19 were resolved at stage 2. 

There is evidence that most starred recommendations are being resolved in a timely 

manner, within the 20 working days defined by the IRO Handbook.  Some that haven’t 

been resolved within that timescale are due to timescales being renegotiated in the best 

interests of the child.   

Starred recommendations were made for a variety of reasons. For example, challenge 

in respect of long term placements not being identified in a timely manner; review 

documents, care plans, personal education plans (PEPs) and pathway plans not being 

completed; challenges regarding proposed changes of placement which weren't 

considered to be in the child's best interests and contact plans which the IRO felt were 

not safeguarding the child.  

There has been a reduction in starred recommendations made this year.  In 2011/12 the 

percentage of starred recommendations made in relation to the number of reviews held 

was 0.7%.  In 2012/13 this had reduced to 0.5%. IROs are completing midpoint review 

checks and escalating issues informally at an earlier stage. IROs are also monitoring 

review recommendations more closely, therefore reducing the opportunity for delay.   

The dispute resolution process is firmly embedded in practice and has achieved positive 

outcomes for children looked after as illustrated in the following examples:  

Case Example 1: 
 

Page 54



Page 27 of 37 

 

A young child placed with foster carers who had made it known to the social worker that 
they would not be able to offer a permanent placement.  The IRO made a starred 
recommendation that searches for a permanent placement needed to be intensified 
following delay in this being progressed.  Tight timescales were set to identify an in-
house placement before agency placements were to be considered.  The outcome of 
this was that a long term placement was identified within one month of this 
recommendation. 
 
Case Example 2: 
Two children placed in a long term foster placement.  Referrals had been made to Child 
& Adult Mental Health Services (CAMHS) on two occasions in order to progress an 
assessment.  Consultation had taken place with SCAYT+ (Supporting Carers of 
Children and Young People Together) and this assessment was felt to be vital for care 
planning and placement stability.  Both referrals were rejected by CAMHS.  This starred 
recommendation was for CAMHS to carry out an assessment.  This was progressed by 
the district team in conjunction with SCAYT+ within the 20 day timescale for resolution 
and the ultimate outcome was that CAMHS accepted the referral for assessment within 
two weeks of the third referral.  
 
Case Example 3: 
During a review for three young children the IRO became concerned about the level of 
supervision that was in place for contact sessions between the children and their 
parents.   The IRO identified risks that the children were exposed to during these 
sessions and made a starred recommendation that contact be urgently reviewed.  This 
was carried out by the team manager within the one week timescale and supervision of 
the sessions was increased.   
 
5.4 IRO challenge  
 
There is also evidence of the effectiveness of IROs in challenging practice without the 
need for recourse to formal problem resolution processes: 
 
Case Example 1: 

 
The IRO raised concerns about a young child placed at home with parents on an Interim 
Care Order.  The local authority care plan put before the court was to remove the child 
but the judge would not allow this and ordered that the child remained in the care of the 
parents.  The IRO and CSC continued to be concerned about this arrangement and the 
IRO clearly recorded these views in the review document which was made available to 
the court.  The IRO challenged evidence of the parent's engagement with the plan at 
reviews and recommended that the home placement agreement be reviewed by the 
responsible manager and for this to be presented to the court.  The outcome was that 
the child was removed and placed in foster care.  As this was a young child the care 
plan is now adoption.  Information was received by CSC that the parents were 
expecting another baby and plans were put in place for a pre birth child protection 
conference.  This identified no changes to the family circumstances and therefore care 

Page 55



Page 28 of 37 

 

proceedings were initiated at birth and plans made for an immediate removal.  The long 
term plan is for both siblings to be placed together in an adoptive placement. 
 
Case Example 2: 
 
In this case three siblings are placed at home on Care Orders under a home placement 
agreement and the mother is expecting her fourth child.  There is a history of domestic 
abuse. The decision of the social work team responsible for the older children had been 
to discharge the Care Orders. However, a recent incident of domestic abuse had been 
reported by the police and this plan had therefore been put in abeyance to allow a 
further period of assessment.  The IRO challenged the decision by CSC not to hold a 
pre birth child protection conference. (It had been proposed to manage the case under a 
child in need plan). The IRO felt this plan was not sufficiently robust to manage the risk 
given the particular vulnerability of a new born baby. The IRO raised this with the 
manager of the team and it was agreed that an initial child protection conference would 
be held.   
 
Case Example 3: 
 
The IRO challenged the timing of a planned move of a child looked after to live with their 
sibling, as it was felt this was being rushed following a previous breakdown of a 
placement where they had lived together. The IRO requested that the original bridging 
plan was implemented so that all involved ensured that this was the right plan for the 
children and that it was given every chance of success. The IRO requested a planning 
meeting and also discussed their views with the Guardian.  The IRO also visited both 
children to ascertain their direct wishes in relation to the bridging.  The outcome was 
that the original timescales for the move were reinstated with the agreement of both 
children. 
 

6.  Evidence of good practice 
 

6.1 Participation 
 
The proportion of children and young people participating in their review remains high 
and participation continues to be encouraged in creative ways. The use of person 
centred approaches within the review process continues to be promoted throughout the 
team.  Training in relation to person centred approaches continued to be delivered 
during the year.  There is evidence of good practice in district teams in promoting 
creative mechanisms for participation as illustrated in the following examples:  
 
Case Example 1: 
 
The Social Worker has on several occasions completed direct work with children to help 

them participate in their children looked after reviews. This has particularly helped 

younger children and children who are shy or have a degree of learning needs.  

Page 56



Page 29 of 37 

 

Before the review the Social Worker writes down with the child their views of positives 

and negatives. Positives and negatives were represented by symbols. One child drew a 

football pitch. Positives were shown through goals scored, negatives through own goals 

scored. The child asked the IRO to be the referee of the football match and had to show 

a parent a red card because they had missed a contact. Another child used a pirate ship 

and represented positives and negatives through treasure chests and skull and cross 

bone flags.  

This method would not suit all children but is an imaginative way to help some children 

who find it difficult to communicate, to participate in their review in a meaningful way. 

Case Example 2: 
 
A young person and his family had praised the review process for supporting them 
through a difficult time in relation to transition planning. This young person had always 
had a person centred review following a difficult initial review held in a traditional way.  
The review 'kept everyone on track and was an opportunity to share positives 
collectively when sometimes it was difficult to see progress on a daily basis.'    
 
Case Example 3: 
 
Two young people complete a story board for every review that is either on the wall or in 
the middle of the room on a table so that all professionals can read their views and see 
what is important to them throughout the meeting.  They design these themselves and 
choose what they want to share. This is a good way for professionals to be reminded 
that children and young people should be at the centre of planning and reviews. 
 
6.2 Concurrent planning  

 
The IRO service has been kept up to date on the progress of the concurrent planning 
project and in particular when carers are about to be approved under this scheme.  This 
has enabled IROs to identify any children on their caseload, particularly unborn babies, 
who would meet the criteria for a concurrent placement.  The placements that have 
been made have all been identified by the IRO service in the initial stages and the IRO 
has been involved in progression of the plan.  This achieves a positive outcome for very 
young children, reducing delay and the number of placement moves. 
 
6.3 Pilot of revised child protection process 
 
The 2011/12 annual report referenced a pilot of revised child protection documents and 

processes in the Pendle District. Observations of child protection conferences and 

feedback from families continues to evidence the positive impact this has made to 

practice. This is particularly evident through the use of the final core group report which 

has eliminated the need for parents/carers to read several different agency reports. The 

importance of this has been raised in the feedback from the parent/carer 

Page 57



Page 30 of 37 

 

questionnaires. This also ensures a greater proportion of conference time is focused on 

discussions in relation to the child protection plan.  

It remains the intention to implement the revised documentation across the county and it 

has therefore been incorporated in the service specification for the replacement IT 

solution for the Children's Social Care Record which will be launched in January 2014. It 

had been hoped that changes could be made to the current IT system but the cost of 

doing this is prohibitive. In the interim period it has been agreed to use documents from 

the pilot which are not part of the current electronic record.     

The IRO in this district also delivered two training sessions to support improvements in 

practice, including outcome focused child protection plans and thresholds.  This was 

offered to social workers, managers, parenting support workers and representatives 

from health. 

6.4 Education awards for children looked after 
 
IROs have nominated children and young people for education awards for some years 

now but in 2012/13 changes were introduced to improve the process and particularly 

the timeliness of the child/young person receiving their award. IROs are now assigned a 

number of vouchers each month and can give these out at the child's review. The 

criteria for awards has also been reviewed and is now more clearly defined, requiring 

that the child/young person has met a target as identified in their PEP. Positive 

feedback has been received from children and young people who like the fact that they 

are instantly rewarded for their hard work. 

7.  Service development  
 

7.1 Administration of child protection conferences 
 
An internal audit review of the service highlighted that there was no audit trail to the 
allocation process for initial child protection conferences as the IRO was contacted 
directly by the district team to arrange a conference.  
 
An IRO duty system was introduced in January 2013 and a centralised referral process 
implemented.  This provides a clear audit trail of the allocation process.   
 

The development of a centralised booking service for initial child protection conferences 

was identified as a priority in the annual report for 2011/12. This has been progressed 

and an appointment made to the post within the Mobile Minute Taking Service. The 

service will deliver efficiencies, freeing up a significant amount of time spent by IROs, 

Social Workers and Business Support staff in negotiating conference arrangements. It 

will also ensure conferences are arranged in a timelier manner, maximising the notice 

period and allowing more preparation time for families and professionals.   

Page 58



Page 31 of 37 

 

7.2 Quality assurance  
 
Following a recent review of the case file audit tools used within Children's Social Care, 
the quality assurance checklist has been replaced by an IRO audit tool. This tool 
provides more qualitative information and is focused on the impact of interventions and 
the outcomes for the child, requiring the IRO to assess the quality of the work 
undertaken with the child/family. As the form is completed electronically, the data can 
be more easily collated to capture trends and themes. The audit tools will be a part of 
the new electronic recording system which will assist IROs in their completion as they 
are only using one system.  The findings will be shared at quarterly cluster meetings 
between the districts and IRO service. 
 
Managers at all levels within the Safeguarding, Inspection & Audit Service are required 
to undertake case file audits and an audit calendar has been agreed for the IRO 
managers who will complete 12 audits per month. Themed audits will be completed 
across a range of practice areas, including pre-birth conferences, pathway planning, 
child protection plans over two years and children with a care plan of adoption. Work 
shadowing is also used to facilitate direct observations of practice and learning. This 
has included IROs shadowing their peers and senior manager's observing conferences 
and CLA reviews. Work shadowing will be extended to include the IROs managers in 
undertaking practice observations.  
 
7.3 Continuous improvement  
 
The service continues to strive to make improvements which will achieve positive 
outcomes for children and young people. Staff development is key to this. Legal training 
for IROs has been commissioned to ensure IROs fully understand their role and 
responsibilities and when to challenge.  This will be helpful for all IROs but will be of 
particular value to new IROs in the team. This training will also involve solicitors from 
legal services and representatives from Children's Social Care. 
 
A new way of recording CLA review reports has been implemented to ensure that all 
review recommendations from the previous review have been implemented and 
consideration given to the impact on the child.  This should also assist IROs in 
determining the need for a starred recommendation. 
 
Quarterly audits are undertaken to ensure timely action is taken to seek the revocation 
of Placement Orders where the care plan is no longer adoption. The current position is 
much improved with all cases now being progressed and applications made to the court 
for a more appropriate order. 
 
7.4 Outcome focused child protection plans 
 
The Ofsted inspection of safeguarding and looked after children services identified that 
whilst child protection cases are well managed, reports for conferences, child protection 
plans and core groups were insufficiently outcome focused. During 2012/13 training was 

Page 59



Page 32 of 37 

 

commissioned in order to address this. As detailed above, changes are also being 
made to child protection documentation including a revised conference decision sheet 
and child protection plan which explicitly record outcomes for the child.  
 
 
 

8.  Challenges 
 

8.1 IRO capacity 
 
IRO capacity remains a significant challenge as caseloads are consistently higher than 
that recommended in the IRO Handbook.  It is noted that caseloads are now equitable 
across the service but the number of children looked after and children subject to a child 
protection plan increased significantly during 2012/13. The number of meetings chaired 
by the IRO Service has exceeded 8,000 and this has had a significant impact on 
capacity.   

IRO capacity has been addressed in the following ways: 
 

• Recruitment to the additional posts agreed by the Directorate Leadership Team 
in early 2012 has been successful with the exception of one part-time temporary 
post. This did however, necessitate four separate recruitment attempts.   

• Recruitment is underway to the vacancies arising from staff retiring in summer 
2013; 

• Recruitment is underway for the IRO manager's post created due to the 
resignation of the current post holder; 

• Secondment opportunities from other services within the Directorate have been 
utilised; 

• Agency staff have been used within the service to ensure statutory 
responsibilities have been met. 

 
It is vital that we are able to recruit and retain an experienced IRO Service if caseloads 
are to be reduced and the IROs supported in fulfilling their critical quality assurance 
function. This will ensure that IROs have time to prepare properly for meetings, 
therefore improving the quality of the meeting and achieving the best outcome for the 
child. It will also ensure that practice is robustly challenged where appropriate and good 
practice shared.   
 
8.2 Quality assurance  
 
The IROs are in a unique position, independent from service delivery and with oversight 
of practice across Children's Social Care. However, in the past there has been an over 
emphasis on their role in relation to compliance and performance timescales.  
 
Development work within the IRO service has focused on the IRO responsibilities within 
the IRO Handbook and the importance of the IRO challenge role. IROs need to ensure 

Page 60



Page 33 of 37 

 

that Social Workers assessments are robust, that they analyse and identify the needs of 
the child and that care plans and child protection plans that result from these 
assessments are realistic and outcome focused.  
 
There is evidence that IROs in Lancashire are monitoring the implementation of the 
child's care plan in between reviews and are more robustly challenging practice, 
escalating concerns to Team and Senior Managers. However, to support IROs in 
fulfilling this responsibility caseloads need to reduce.  

 

9.  Priorities for 2013/14 
 
9.1 Embed new structure 
 
Now the service is fully operational in its new structure and systems have been 
implemented to support the new ways of working, the priority for this year is to develop 
the service and the IROs working within it. The team training and development plan is 
being reviewed to ensure the IROs continue to feel supported and develop in their new 
roles.  
    
9.2 Develop a quarterly quality assurance report 
 
A quarterly quality assurance report will be developed to capture themes from case file 
audits completed within the IRO Service, performance information, issues arising 
through the problem resolution process and learning from Serious Case Reviews. It is 
hoped that the report will provide a useful reporting and feedback mechanism to district 
teams.  
 
9.3 NCB research 
 
Lancashire is currently participating in a piece of research led by the National Children's 
Bureau (NCB), exploring the role and effectiveness of the IRO service. The research 
has received the support of the Association of Directors of Children's Services (ADCS) 
Research Group.   

The study incorporates a national survey of IROs, IRO Managers and DCS's (now 
completed), an analysis of costs, and qualitative case studies in four local authorities. 
The NCB also met with a focus group of IROs and Social Workers, completed semi-
structured interviews with stakeholders and looked after children and have undertaken 
an analysis of recent care plans, reviews and case notes.  

The study will consider the following areas: 

� Ways in which IROs and Social Workers work together; 
� How IROs support the care planning process; 
� The impact of the IRO service on individual cases and overall services for looked 

after children. 
 

Page 61



Page 34 of 37 

 

Lancashire will consider how the findings can be used to further improve its IRO 
service.  
 
 
 
 

9.4 Reduce delay in care proceedings  
 
The Family Justice Council has reviewed the timescales in relation to the duration of 
care proceedings in the family courts.  The revised timescale has been reduced from 40 
to 26 weeks.  The emphasis for the local authority is firmly placed on pre proceedings 
work, ensuring that the timescale can be met once before the court. The IRO service 
has been involved in the development of the Directorate's pre proceedings protocol, 
ensuring the review process and its function in monitoring the care plan and preventing 
delay is implemented at the earliest opportunity. 
 
A central care proceedings team has been established in the county in an effort to 
further reduce delay in care proceedings; in particular for those children with a plan of 
adoption.  An IRO manager is represented on the steering group to ensure a 
collaborative approach to this initiative with CSC. 
 
As part of their quality assurance role, IROs will continue to escalate concerns about 
delay to Childrens Social Care managers and their own line manager and if necessary 
commence the formal problem resolution process by making a starred recommendation. 
 
9.5 Improve service user feedback 
 
A priority this year is to increase the feedback from children and families in respect of 
their experience of services and their views regarding the IRO role. The proportion of 
completed parent/carer questionnaires is not representative of the number of 
conferences taking place and efforts will be made to improve this during 2013/14.   
 
A method of consulting children and young people will be developed as part of the 
review process. This will provide children and young people with an opportunity to share 
their views about their meetings or the child protection conference, the process and 
their IRO in order to inform improvements in practice. 
 
9.6 Access to independent legal advice 
 
The IRO Handbook requires that IROs have access to independent legal advice. This is 
currently spot purchased from a private law firm which can be costly. Legal services are 
exploring the feasibility of establishing reciprocal arrangements with another local 
authority. 
 

10.  Conclusion 
 

Page 62



Page 35 of 37 

 

The IRO service is an experienced team and whilst retaining its independence and 
challenge, has developed strong collaborative working relationships, particularly with 
colleagues in CSC. The team has risen to the challenges of the last twelve months, 
evidencing a strong commitment to improving outcomes for children and young people. 
The new service structure provides a strong foundation upon which to deliver 
improvements in practice, promoting continuity of IRO and improved efficiency.  
 
The quality assurance function of the IRO service has been strengthened through the 
new case file auditing arrangements. Whilst feedback from parents/carers has already 
been used to improve practice within the child protection arena, the views of children 
and young people will be sought to inform developments within the IRO service and 
improve service delivery.  
 
Jude Brown   Senior IRO 
Mark Hudson   Senior IRO 
Paul McIntyre  Schools Safeguarding Coordinator 
 
June 2013 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 63



Page 36 of 37 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 1   Post qualifying experience table 

IRO Managers 

Name Year of Qualification Year began as an 
IRO 

Year began as an 
IRO manager 

IRO Manager 1 
 

2000 2005 2009 

IRO Manager 2 
 

1982 1999 2010 

IRO Manager 3 
 

1999 N/A 2011 

 

IROs 

 

Name Year of 
qualification 

Year began as IRO 

IRO 1 1985 1999 

IRO 2 1986 1999 

IRO 3 1989 1999 

IRO 4 2003 2009 

IRO 5 1988 2009 

IRO 6 1993 2009 

IRO 7 2003 2009 

IRO 8 2005 2010 

IRO 9 2004 2010 

IRO 10 2007 2012 

IRO 11 1988 2011 

IRO 12 2000 2012 

Page 64



Page 37 of 37 

 

IRO 13 2001 2013 

IRO 14 2006 2013 

IRO 15 2005 2013 

IRO 16 2006 2013 

IRO 17 1995 2004 

IRO 18 1995 2001 

IRO 19 1996 2011 

IRO 20 1982 2011 

IRO 21 2000 2011 

IRO 22 2004 2011 

IRO 23 1988 2012 

IRO 24 2007 2012 

Fostering IROs: 

FIRO 1 2000 2007 

FIRO 2 1998 2013 

FIRO 3 1980 2009 

 
 

Page 65



Page 66



��������	
���
�
���������������������������
��������������
����

���������������
�������������� ��!��
�
��!!����
����������	
���
�
�
"

��������
����
�����#����
��$���#��$����
"

��%������������
�����&���$�
�� �������
����������'

�

Agenda Item 11

Page 67



(�����$�� �
������������������	
���
��!�����
�����&���$��!���
����
&���$
���������
�����������

)����� ��!���#������ �
���������������	
���
���!���
�����&���$

��������
�����������

*��������������
��!������
�������#������
�������������������	
���
�
�!���
�����&���$
���������
�����������

+�����$������!�������������������������	
���
���!���
�����&���$
�����
���
�����������

�

Page 68



,������������
��!!��!����������#����������
�
�������#�������
�������
��������	
���
���!���
�����&���$
���������
�����������

-����������#�������������������#�����
��!���
�����&���$
��!��

�����&���$
���������
�����������

�������������#�����
�������
����������!���
�����&���$
�����
���
�����������

���.��!!����$��!����
���!���!������#���

�

Page 69



�����!����
�!�����������
�

���.��!!������#����#����&���������!����������


�(�.��!!������
�����&���� �� �����������!�
���������� ����
�������
�
�������
������

�)�.��!!�
�$��
������������
����������������

�

Page 70



�*�.��!!������
��#����
��
������#��$

�+�.��!!������
�������$����������
������
��&����
�

�,���#�����������!���
��������
�������#������
����#������� ���
������ ���!!���������#����
����$����!���

�-��������
�����������������/
���
�/
�0����
	

�

Page 71



���.��!!������
�������������#�������$��!����
�
��!

���.��!!������
�������������!���#������#������ �����
���#�1������

��$���������&���
�����&������&���������$�����$���������
�������1
�2���
���������
#������
�3��
������!����������)������+�����
�����

������
��&������&���
���#��������
��������
��������

�#�����
��������


���4�����������
���
�����������
��������

�

Page 72



�(�4����������
�&����!
�������
�����������
��������

�)����
�������#����
�������
��������

�*�����������#�����
�������
��������

�+�4�
���!�������
�����������#�����������������������������������
���������������	
���
�

�

Page 73



Page 74



��������	
��
���������������	����������������
������
���

���
���������	������ � ����������������!
������"��!��
���!���#
��
���$������������%�����
����������������!
�����&�������������!�

�����������&���� � %�������
����������� ���

��'����������������
���� ����������	�����%���� �����

�

Page 75



(�'��������������������������!
�����
�"��������

)�'���������������� �&���
��	������ �������%����������!
����
���*�����+��������� ��!
���
����������
�����

,�'������������������������������������

-�'������	�����%����������������������������������

�

Page 76



.�������������!��
� ����������� ���

/���!������������������������
��	���%���� ����������� ����%�������
 �"����������������!��
��
� 

���'����������������
������ ��!
�����!���%������

����
����������� ��
����������	����"������&� ��!
������
��&��%���
�
��
���� ����������������	�"�� �

�

Page 77



����
����������� ��
����������	����"������&� ��!
������
��&��%���
 ���������������

������ ��%�������� ������������ ���
������%������ ��
��	��
��

������

�(���!������
�������� �������� �������!
����������!�����
�"���
��	���"������������
�!���� ����&��������

�)�0������	������
����%���&����"������������������1

�

Page 78



�,�����&��"������	� �����������������������
����%���&�������
���
%���&����������������������

�-���
�"������!
�����"����� ����������������������
����%���&������
���������������

�.��
�����������������
��	��������!
�����"����� ��������������������
�
����%���&����������������������

�/�����2����
���������	������ ����������������������
����%���&������
���������������

�

Page 79



�������"��!��
� ��%���
���������������

���'�������������������&�
����
��������
�������&�

�������&��������������"�����
��
��	����&��������	��������*�����%���*
������*������������*����&�!������� %��	*��
������	�����*�
����
�����	*��!�  ��	�������	��	

�����
�"����������!��
� ���� ���

�

Page 80



�(���� �
�����!��
��
��� ������������������
�"��!��
� ���� ���

�)�'����������������
���� ��!��
� ����
������������	��!��&

�,�'����������������
���� ����������������!
����� ��������

�-�'����������������
���� �������&���������� �����	���%���� �

�

Page 81



�.������	�� �����	*���� �!���� ���%��&�����
���������
� �

�/�'����������������
���� �����������
�!�������&������� ��������
������������������������

���'����������������
���� �����������������!
�����!������"�
������������������������������!����
���$��������������������)����
�-�����������

�����	�������
���*������	�*�������������������������

�

Page 82



������ �����	�!���������
���*������	�*����"����������
� �
�����������������
�������������������� �������
�����������
�������������

	

Page 83



Page 84



Grant

Application

Number

Name and 

Address of 

Group

Application

Details
Contact Person

Amount

Requested
Amount Received Description of how Funding was Utilised

1

CLICS,

County Hall, 

Preston

Refreshments at 

two county 

Celebration Events 

2010 for Children 

Suzy Cummings, 

Participation

Officer, B4 County 
£3,152.32 £3,152.32

Events held on 18 March 2010 and 29 April 2010.

• Nominees – 233 young people were nominated for an award 

• Nominees – 177 were invited to the events

• Nominees - 64 attended the events to receive their awards

• Carers – 61

• Lancashire County Council Staff and Councillors –  34

• In total 160 staff, carers, county councillors, managers, Children 

Grant Funding Applications - Approved

Preston
Looked After and 

Care Leavers

Hall, Preston and Young People Looked After and Care Leavers attended the 

event.

• Unfortunately 56 Young people where nominated but not invited 

to the event due to lack of space in the venue

2

Crestmoor

Children's

Residential

Unit, Easden 

Clough Morse

Summer fun day 

which will include 

stalls that give 

information to our 

young people on 

health matters, 

education, healthy 

eating drugs etc to

Gwen Monk, 

Manager, £500.00 £500.00

The money was used to help put on a fun day.  This was a huge 

success attended by all the areas residential units, social workers, 

all the CWD units we had information stalls from education, health 

and children's rights.  We held the Olympics with teams from the 

CLA team, YOT and Crestmoor with Crestmoor winning the cup!!

We also released over 1000 balloons which we charged £1 a 

balloon and this money will be donated to Donna's dream house 
Clough, Morse

Street,

Burnley, BB10 

4PB

eating, drugs etc to

allow young people 

to access this 

information but 

also have a good 

time, have a DJ to 

play music

g ,

Crestmoor CRU

y

for Children with terminal illnesses.  We had a petting zoo , a 

gunge chair competition which people paid to have someone 

gunged this was won by Anthony Moorcroft and Gary Pickles, a 

steel band, BBQ, chocolate fountain and tombola.  It was great to 

see everyone having a good time together.  For me it was 

partnership and participation at its finest.

5

Children and 

Young

People's

Directorate,

County Hall, 

Preston, PR1 

Printing

"Entitlements

Leaflets" for our 

Looked After 

Children and Care 

L

Peter Francis, 

Performance

Manager, Roon 

B10, County Hall

£322.00 £322.00 In the process of having the leaflets printed.

Preston, PR1

8RJ
Leavers

A
genda Item

 12

P
age 85



Fostering

Recruitment

To supplement the 

existing service's 

it t b d t

The Communications Service was tasked with supporting the 

fostering recruitment team in achieving 1,000 enquiries between 

April 2010 and March 2011. Research was undertaken and 

communications objectives were set with targets of increasing 

traffic to the website and enquiries to the telephone helpline.  The 

additional £13,000 grant funding was essential and was used to 

purchase appropriate advertising space and marketing materials 

to achieve this. 

A broad range of tactics were used during the campaign based on 

the demographic research of behaviour and preferences of our 

key audience.  Activity included media relations, broadcast and 

print advertising, outdoor advertising, grassroots distribution of

7

Recruitment

and

Assessment

Team

recruitment budget 

in order to meet 

2010/11 new foster 

carer targets.

£13,000.00 £13,000.00 £13,000.00

print advertising, outdoor advertising, grassroots distribution of

marketing materials, digital marketing and internal 

communications.

Key outcomes include:

• The campaign exceeded its key target with a final total of 1,113 

fostering enquiries achieved within the 2011/12 financial year. 

• A 23% increase in unique visitors to the website which led to an 

average of 74.5 online enquiries each month.

• Telephone enquiries increased from an average of 35 up to 68 

calls per month by the last campaign quarter. 

• More people now identify one of the campaign's key channels 

than previously which indicates that communications are morethan previously which indicates that communications are more

memorable and/or focused to more appropriate channels.

9

Crestmoor

Children's

Residential

Unit, 1 Unity 

Way, off 

Haslingden

Old Road, 

Rawtenstall

Crestmoor would 

like to start an 

initiative with 

Burnley Youth 

Theatre that will 

see the young 

people of 

Crestmoor express 

themselves

through different 

media. At the end 

of the project the

Alexander

Borchert, Social 

Pedagogue

£6,475.00 £6,475.00

On the 19th and 26th of May 2011the first two session for young 

people from East Lancashire have happened.  These were 

colourful, interesting sessions which the young people thoroughly 

enjoyed. There were some games to get to know each other, a 

tour through the theatre and some exercises around what the 

young people want to do in the future sessions. First photographs 

were taken of and by the young people; material was collected for 

a play and /or poem.  The young people expressed what they 

want to do (i.e. filming) and this is now prepared for the next 
Rawtenstall,

BB4 8RR

of the project the

young people will 

have produced a 

DVD that shows "A 

life in the day of 

Crestmoor".

want to do (i.e. filming) and this is now prepared for the next

sessions to come.

Newspaper report from the event.

P
age 86



10

Hannah

Peake, CYP 

Directorate,

County Hall, 

Preston, PR1 

8RJ

Work to support 

and enable the 

participation of 

looked after 

children and young 

people

Hannah Peake, 

Strategic Lead - 

Children and 

Young People's 

Participation

£2,530.00 £2,530.00

Key Activities:

1.  Facilitating attendance at CPB.

2.  Supporting young people to attend Lancashire Youth Council.

3.  Youth Proofing Lancashire CLA documents.

4.  Continuing consulting with children and young people 

regarding the CiCC.

5.  CiCC meetings.

11

Hannah

Peake, CYP 

Directorate,

County Hall, 

Preston, PR1 

8RJ

To design and print 

several children 

and young people 

friendly

documents.

Hannah Peake, 

Strategic Lead - 

Children and 

Young People's 

Participation

£2,485.00 £2,485.00

The project is still in progress but the policy and strategy 

document have been 'Youth proofed' and will be sent to the 

Communications team to be designed and printed. The A-Z 

document and children's version are still being drafted as they 

need to reflect recent changes to in legislation/ government 

guidance.8 J gu da ce

12

Paul Hegarty, 

Service

Manager CLA, 

Area

Education

Office, White 

Cross

To host an event 

which enables 

managers from; 

residential, foster, 

adoption, field 

work and CWD to 

explore

participation and

Paul Hegarty, 

Service Manager £237.50 £237.50

The event was very successful with over 30 managers attending 

from residential homes (both mainstream and children with 

additional needs),  fostering,  adoption,  Independent reviewing 

services, social workers (IAS/CWD/CLA/LC) and a team 

manager.   The event was also supported by the attendance of 

County Councillor Tony Winder and Louise Taylor (Director).  The 

event looked at the opportunities and challenges of introducing a 

children in care council and an action plan was developed that 

Hannah (Peake) is currently producing.  A representative from the 

Children Society also attended following their recent successful 

bid to drive this agenda forward and outlined next steps.   Detailed 

discussion did take place regarding Hannah's strategic role and 

the concern the group expressed at the lack of a distinct focus onCross

Education

Centre,

Quarry Road, 

Lancaster,

LA1 4XQ

participation and

develop an action 

plan to support the 

Participation

Strategy for 

Children Looked 

After.

CLA
the concern the group expressed at the lack of a distinct focus on

the children looked after agenda.   Hannah spoke to this and it 

was agreed that I would discuss this further with Louise Taylor.  In 

conclusion I think the event was a success.  It established some 

clear actions and principles to ensure this essential activity is 

successfully implemented and the views of children and young 

people influence the service they receive,  professional practice 

and wider service delivery.  In conclusion I think the event was a 

success.  It established some clear actions and principles to 

ensure this essential activity is successfully implemented and the 

views of children and young people influence the service they 

receive,  professional practice and wider service delivery.

Laura

13

Goodfellow,

Lancashire

Children's Rights 

Service, 30 

Ribblesdale

Place, Preston, 

PR1 3NA

Children Looked After 

and Care Leaver 

Celebration of 

Achievement Event

Laura Goodfellow £7,000.00 £7,000.00

P
age 87



14

Paul Hegarty, 

Service Manager 

CLA, Area 

Education Office, 

White Cross 

Education

Centre, Quarry 

Road, Lancaster, 

LA1 4XQ

To print LAC/CPB 

Literature - the Pledge

Paul Hegarty, 

Service Manager 

CLA

£57.75 £57.75

Crestmoor

Children's

15 young people who 

attend Weds night at 

JJB from both 

residential leaving care 

and foster care, they 

have been doing 

l f tb ll

16

Children s

Residential Unit, 

1 Unity Way, off 

Haslingden Old 

Road,

Rawtenstall, BB4 

8RR

regular football 

coaching and will 

complete a I day 

accredited junior sports 

leader award, any 

young people who are 

appropriate will 

undergo F.A 25 hour 

junior coaching award.

Continue with the 

ongoing success that 

h b d

Gwen Monk, 

Manager,

Crestmoor CRU

£10,000.00 £2,500.00

The project aims to 

involve Lancashire's 

children looked after in 

creating a giant patch 

k ilt th t

17

Anthony

Moorcroft, 29 

South Avenue, 

Morecambe, LA4 

5RJ

work quilt that 

represents their views 

thoughts feelings on 

individual placements, 

be this Residential, 

Foster, Short Break or 

leaving Care.  Allowing 

children young people 

a voice, regardless of 

their background, age, 

ability or 

circumstances.

Anthony Moorcroft, 

Overnight

Residential

Manager, South 

Avenue

£8,000.00 £8,000.00

Hena Begum, 

Autumn House

To purchase sport and 

recreational equipment 

for young people to 

participate on the date H B

18

Autumn House

Children's Home, 

Co-operative

Street, Bamber 

Bridge, Preston, 

PR5 6FH

participate on the date

with staff members and 

invitees.  There will be 

a small sports day to 

keep young people 

focussed, active and 

be able to enjoy and 

achieve.

Hena Begum, 

Assistant

Manager, Autumn 

House

£500.00 £300.00

P
age 88



19

Laura

Goodfellow,

Lancashire

Children's Rights 

Service, 30 

Ribblesdale

Place, Preston, 

Children’s Rights 

Summit

Laura Goodfellow, 

Youth Mentor, 

Children's Rights 

Service

£1,425.00 £712.50

20
Sam Gorton, 

LCC, County Hall, 

Preston, PR1 

Celebration Event 2014 Sam Gorton £5,000.00 £5,000.00

21

Golden Raven 

Productions, 29 

South Avenue, 

Morecambe, LA4

To fund two films, 

workshops,

refreshments, a budget 

for filming, cast, crew, 

marketing, production 

f DVD d ili

Anthony Moorcroft, 

Unit Manager
£10,000.00 £10,000.00

Morecambe, LA4

5RJ
of DVDs and unveiling 

of the piece at various 

venues.

TOTAL £62,272.07

P
age 89



Grant Funding Applications

Number

Approved/ 

Not 

Approved

Name and 

Address of Group
Application Details

Amount 

Requested
Contact Person

Date Application 

Received

Date Considered 

by Young 

People

Date considered 

by Directors

Date considered 

by Chair
Comments

Link to 

Report

Date sent to 

Julie
Date Paid Amount Paid

Journal Transfer 

Details

1 Approved
CLICS, County 

Hall, Preston

Refreshments at two county 

Celebration Events 2010 for 

Children Looked After and Care 

Leavers

£3,152.32

Suzy Cummings, 

Participation 

Officer, B4 

County Hall, 

01-Apr-2010 19-Apr-2010 19-Apr-2010

Applications\A

pplication

1\app 1.pdf

18/06/10

2 Approved

Crestmoor

Children's 

Residential Unit, 

Easden Clough, 

Morse Street, 

Burnley, BB10 4PB

Summer fun day which will 

include stalls that give 

information to our young people 

on health matters, education, 

healthy eating, drugs etc to 

allow young people to access 

this information but also have a 

good time, have a DJ to play 

music

£500.00

Gwen Monk, 

Manager,

Crestmoor CRU

06-May-2010
Louise Taylor 

19/05/2010

CC Winder 

19/05/2010

Applications\A

pplication

2\app 2.pdf

18/06/10 30/06/10 £500.00
Document No: 

9030639

Social Pedagogy

3 Closed

Social Pedagogy

Task Force, 

Crestmoore

Children's 

Residential Unit, 

Easden Clough, 

Morse Street, 

Burnley, BB10 4PB

Seeing The Hidden – a 

photography project, that 

culminates in publishing a book

£2,075.00

Alexander 

Borchert, Social 

Pedagogue/

Consultant

13/05/10

Reply Received 

Louise Taylor 

16/07/2010

Author informed 

deferred

11/08/2010

Applications\A

pplication 3

4
Not 

approved

Haverholt 

Children's Home, 

24A Haverholt 

Close, Colne, BB8 

9SN

To enable CLA to have Spanish 

fiesta type meal, visiting the 

Roman Amphitheatre near 

where we are staying, a day out 

at a Water Park and a day out 

at a Theme Park and finally 

rides on a Banana Boat or 

something similar whilst on 

holiday in Spain

£2,000.00

Alan Hornby, 

Registered

Manager,

Haverholt CCH

07-Jul-2010

Grant Not 

Supported by 

Louise Taylor 

16/07/2010

Not supported - 

Author informed 

20/07/2010

Applications\A

pplication 4\10 

07 07 

Application 

form

holiday.docx

Children and Young 

People's Printing "Entitlements Leaflets" 
Peter Francis, 

P f L i T l CC Wi d

14/09/2010 - 

Notification of 

Applications\A

pplication

5 Approved

p

Directorate, County 

Hall, Preston, PR1 

8RJ

g

for our Looked After Children 

and Care Leavers 

£322.00
Performance

Manager, Roon 

B10, County Hall

06-Aug-2010
Louise Taylor

10/08/10

CC Winder

11/08/2010
approved 

application to 

Peter Francis

pp

5\Entitlements 

Leaflets - 

Grant

6
Not 

approved

Haverholt 

Children's Home, 

24A Haverholt 

Close, Colne, BB8 

To fund a conservatory at the 

back of the house
£30,000.00

Miss Sarah Hill, 

Assistant 

Manager,

Haverholt CCH

17-Aug-2010

Reply from 

Louise Taylor 

31/08/2010

Applications\A

pplication

6\Haverholt.pd

f

7 Approved

Fostering

Recruitment and 

Assessment Team

To supplement the existing 

service's recruitment budget in 

order to meet 2010/11 new 

foster carer targets.

£13,000.00

Gill Green, 

Fostering

Recruitment and 

Assessment 

Team Manager

06-Oct-2010

Comments from 

Louise Taylor 

12/10/2010

CC Winder/CC 

Wilson 

20/10/2010

21/10/2010

Notification of 

approval sent to 

Stasia Osiowy, 

Barbara Bath 

and Gill Green

Applications\A

pplication

7\Grant

Application.do

c

CLASS, 2nd Floor, 

Ci i C t W t

E Learning' Training for 

Emotional Health and 

Wellbeing modules for all of 

Lancashire's Children's 

workforce (estimated at 

54 000) The modules will be Mark Warren, 30/12/11 Follow Sent to Louise Sent to CC

Applications\A

pplication

8\G t
8 Closed

Civic Centre, West

Paddock, Leyland, 

PR25 1DH

54,000). The modules will be

accessed through Lancashire's 

website. The full course 

consists of nine modules of 

which three have so far been 

funded through the schools 

budget and NHS NW.  These 

will be launched in the new

£30,000.00

a a e ,

CAMHS Co-

ordinator

16-Dec-2010

30/ / o o

Up Sent to Mark 

Warren

Se t to ou se

Taylor 

07/01/2011

Se t to CC

Winder 

07/01/2011

8\Grant

Funding

Application.do

cx

P
age 90



Grant Funding Applications

Number

Approved/ 

Not 

Approved

Name and 

Address of Group
Application Details

Amount 

Requested
Contact Person

Date Application 

Received

Date Considered 

by Young 

People

Date considered 

by Directors

Date considered 

by Chair
Comments

Link to 

Report

Date sent to 

Julie
Date Paid Amount Paid

Journal Transfer 

Details

9 Approved

Crestmoor

Children's 

Residential Unit, 1 

Unity Way, off 

Haslingden Old 

Road, Rawtenstall, 

BB4 8RR

Crestmoor would like to start an 

initiative with Burnley Youth 

Theatre that will see the young 

people of Crestmoor express 

themselves through different 

media. At the end of the project 

the young people will have 

produced a DVD that shows "A 

life in the day of Crestmoor".

£6,475.00

Alexander 

Borchert, Social 

Pedagogue

12-Jan-2011

02/03/2011

Approved by 

Louise Taylor

04/03/2011 CC 

Val Wilson 

Approval

10/03/2011

Notification of 

approval sent to 

Alexander 

Borchert

Applications\A

pplication

9\application

9.pdf

10 Approved

Hannah Peake, 

CYP Directorate, 

County Hall, 

Preston, PR1 8RJ

Work to support and enable the 

participation of looked after 

children and young people 

£2,530.00 Hannah Peake 25-Mar-2011

Approval 

Received from 

Louise Taylor  

25/03/2011

06/04/2011 CC 

Wilson

06/05/2011

Approval Email 

Sent to Hannah 

Peake

Applications\A

pplication

10\application

10.pdfPreston, PR1 8RJ 25/03/2011 Peake 10.pdf

11 Approved

Hannah Peake, 

CYP Directorate, 

County Hall, 

Preston, PR1 8RJ

To design and print several 

children and young people 

friendly documents. 

£2,485.00 Hannah Peake 05-Apr-2011

06/04/2011

Approval Louise 

Taylor

06/04/2011 CC 

Wilson

07/04/2011

Approval Email 

sent to Hannah

Applications\A

pplication

11\application

11.pdf

12 Approved

Paul Hegarty, 

Service Manager 

CLA, Area 

Education Office, 

White Cross 

Education Centre, 

Quarry Road, 

Lancaster, LA1 

To host an event which enables 

managers from; residential, 

foster, adoption, field work and 

CWD to explore participation 

and develop an action plan to 

support the Participation 

Strategy for Children Looked 

After.  

£237.50 Paul Hegarty 06-May-2011

18/05/2011

Approval Louise 

Taylor

18/05/2011 CC 

Winder Approval

19/05/2011

Approval Email 

sent to Paul 

Hegarty

Applications\A

pplication

12\Application 

Form.doc

13 Approved

Laura Goodfellow, 

Lancashire

Children's Rights 

Service, 30 

Ribblesdale Place,

Children Looked After and Care 

Leaver Celebration of 

Achievement Event

£7,000.00 Laura Goodfellow 18-Jan-2012

Confirmation of 

YP Approval 

13/02/2012

23/02/2012

Approval Louise 

Taylor

23/02/2012

Approval CC 

Winder

24/02/2012

Approval Email 

sent to Laura 

Goodfellow and 

CC K

Applications\A

pplication

13\Grant

application

Celebration,

Preston, PR1 3NA
CC Kay

Event.doc

14 Approved

Paul Hegarty, 

Service Manager 

CLA, Area 

Education Office, 

White Cross 

Education Centre, 

Quarry Road, 

Lancaster, LA1 

To print LAC/CPB Literature - 

the Pledge
£57.75 Paul Hegarty 27-Oct-2011

24/11/2011 Sent 

to Louise Taylor

22/11/2011 CC 

Winder Approval

25/11/11

Approval Email 

sent to Paul 

Hegarty

Applications\A

pplication

14\Application 

Form.doc

15
Not 

Laura Goodfellow, 

Lancashire

Children's Rights 

To develop work in 

communicating with children 

and young people looked after.  

This will include involving 

children and young people in 

producing informational 

resources to communicate with 

children and young people in 

care across Lancashire This is £1 000 00 Laura Goodfellow 28 Nov 2011

Young People 

Approval

Sent to Louise 

Taylor

Sent to CC 

Winder

Applications\A

pplication

15\Grant15
approved Service, 30 

Ribblesdale Place, 

Preston, PR1 3NA

care across Lancashire. This is

expected to take the form of 

leaflet development and 

posters, however, the direction 

of the resources produced will 

be taken from the children and 

young people and we are open 

to ideas that are more 

innovative and creative.

£1,000.00 Laura Goodfellow 28-Nov-2011 Approval

19/12/2011

Taylor

30/12/2011

Winder

20/12/2011

15\Grant

application

15.doc

P
age 91



Grant Funding Applications

Number

Approved/ 

Not 

Approved

Name and 

Address of Group
Application Details

Amount 

Requested
Contact Person

Date Application 

Received

Date Considered 

by Young 

People

Date considered 

by Directors

Date considered 

by Chair
Comments

Link to 

Report

Date sent to 

Julie
Date Paid Amount Paid

Journal Transfer 

Details

16 Approved

Crestmoor

Children's 

Residential Unit, 1 

Unity Way, off 

Haslingden Old 

Road, Rawtenstall, 

BB4 8RR

15 young people who attend 

Weds night at JJB from both 

residential leaving care and 

foster care, they have been 

doing regular football coaching 

and will complete a I day 

accredited junior sports leader 

award, any young people who 

are appropriate will undergo 

F.A 25 hour junior coaching 

award.  Continue with the 

ongoing success that has been 

created

£10000 - £2500 

granted

Gwen Monk, 

Manager,

Crestmoor CRU

28-Mar-2012

17/10/2012

Comments from 

YP

19/10/2012

Louise Taylor 

Approved

08/11/2012 CC 

Winder Approved

121108

Approval Sent 

Gwen Monk

Applications\A

pplication

16\Application 

Form.doc

P
age 92



Grant

Application

Number

Name and 

Address of 

Group

Application

Details
Contact Person

Amount

Requested
Reason for Not Approved

3

Social

Pedagogy

Task Force, 

Crestmoore

Children's

Residential

Unit, Easden 

Clough,

Morse Street, 

Burnley, BB10 

4PB

Seeing The 

Hidden – a 

photography

project, that 

culminates in 

publishing a book

Alexander

Borchert, Social 

Pedagogue/

Consultant

£2,075.00

Deferred because still unsufficient understanding of how this 

links to the children in care council and the wider directorate's 

commitment to the engagement of children and young people.

To enable CLA to 

have Spanish 

fiesta type meal,

Grant Funding Applications - Not Approved

4

Haverholt

Children's

Home, 24A 

Haverholt

Close, Colne, 

BB8 9SN

fiesta type meal,

visiting the Roman 

Amphitheatre near 

where we are 

staying, a day out 

at a Water Park 

and a day out at a 

Theme Park and 

finally rides on a 

Banana Boat or 

something similar 

whilst on holiday in 

Spain

Alan Hornby, 

Registered

Manager,

Haverholt CCH

£2,000.00

The grant is not approved as it is not an appropriate use of 

Corporate Parenting Board funding or ties in with priorities in 

CCYP Plan and in current economic climate would mean that 

CLA arguably are receiving over and above what others 

received  and it subsidises staff.  There is also potential for it to 

set a precedence of this nature.

P
age 93



6

Haverholt

Children's

Home, 24A 

Haverholt

Close, Colne, 

BB8 9SN

To fund a 

conservatory at 

the back of the 

house

Miss Sarah Hill, 

Assistant

Manager,

Haverholt CCH

£30,000.00

It would be inappropriate to subsidise activity of this kind 

because there would be insufficient funds .to cover similar 

requests from other homes.  The link between the request and 

the Children and Young People's Plan is tenuous.  It wouldn't be 

appropriate to subsidise activities which involve staff and 

support activities which arguably other families in such an 

economic downturn could not afford.

P
age 94


	Agenda
	2 Notes of the Meeting and Matters Arising from 5 December 2013 (5 mins)
	4 Action Sheet (5 mins)
	5 What Does Our Performance Tell Us? (5 mins)
	6 Attainment of Children Looked After (5 mins)
	7 IRO Annual Report (30 mins)
	11 Ofsted Questionnaire Summaries
	OFSTED Summaries fostering_children_and_young_people_2013_-_lancashire_2013-12-18

	12 Grant Funding Applications

